
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764454  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 21 September 2021 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - Function Room, South Holland Centre, Market 
Place, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 1SS 

 
 

Membership of the Policy Development Panel: 
 
Councillors: J R Astill, J Avery, A C Beal, F Biggadike, M D Booth, R A Gibson, M Hasan, 
J L King, J D McLean, P A Redgate, J L Reynolds, G T D Rudkin, G P Scalese (Vice-
Chairman), S-A Slade, S C Walsh and A R Woolf (Chairman) 
 
Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings. 
 
Quorum: 6 
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode 

 
 
 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   13 September 2021 
 



A G E N D A 
 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes -  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the following meetings: 
 

 

a)   Policy Development Panel -  
2 March 2021 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
5 - 8) 

b)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
29 June 2021 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
9 - 16) 

c)   Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development 
Panel -  
22 July 2021 (copy enclosed) 
 

(Pages 
17 - 22) 

3.  Declaration of Interests. -  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest to the meeting and leave the room without 
participating in any discussion or making a statement on the item, 
except where a councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of 
dispensation. 
 

 

4.  Questions asked under Standing Order 6  
 

 

5.  Tracking of recommendations -  
To consider responses of the Cabinet to reports of the Panel.   
 

 

6.  Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel  
 

 

7.  Key Decision Plan -  
To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed).   
 

(Pages 
23 - 28) 

8.  Policy Register -  
To note the current Policy Register 
 

(Pages 
29 - 34) 

9.  Street Naming and Numbering Policy -  
That the Policy Development Panel review the revised Street Naming 
and Numbering Policy (report of the Assistant Director Communities and 
Operations enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
35 - 56) 

10.  HRA Housing Delivery Framework -  
To introduce a HRA Housing Delivery Framework to inform future 
investment decisions for the HRA Capital Programme relating to 
housing development (report of the Executive Director – Strategy & 
Resource enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
57 - 66) 

11.  SHDC Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Licensing and Fee Policy -  
To seek feedback on the proposed Mobile Homes and Caravan site 
licencing and the proposed introduction of a fee-charging structure for 

(Pages 
67 - 84) 



eligible administration connected with the policy (report of the Assistant 
Director Housing enclosed). 
 

12.  Market Consultation Outcome -  
The Panel will receive a presentation from the Head of Environmental 
and Operational Services. 
 

 

13.  Policy Development Panel Work Programme -  
To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 
(report of the Assistant Director – Governance (Monitoring Officer) 
enclosed). 
 
The Panel will also give consideration to the formation of a Task Group 
to look at the South Holland Centre and its future operations.  
 

(Pages 
85 - 90) 

14.  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. -  
 
 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 

circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.   

 

 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 26 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority 
& Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 202g, on Tuesday, 
2 March 2021 at 6.30 pm. 
 

 PRESENT  

  
A R Woolf (Chairman) 
G P Scalese (Vice-Chairman) 

 
J R Astill 
J Avery 
A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
R A Gibson 
 

M Hasan 
J L King 
J D McLean 
P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds 
 

G T D Rudkin 
S-A Slade 
S C Walsh 
 

   

 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillor M D Booth.     
 
In Attendance:   The Place Manager,  the Housing Landlord Services Manager, the 
Housing Services Manager, the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic 
Services Team Leader. 
 

 
 Action By 

42. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL   

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Policy 
Development Panel meeting held on 4 November 2020. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.  

 

   

43. JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
 DEVELOPMENT PANEL  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel meeting held on 
17 November 2020. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.  

 

   

44. JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
 DEVELOPMENT PANEL  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Joint Performance  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.a)



- 27 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 2 March 
2021 

 

 

Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel meeting held on 
21 January 2021. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.  

   

45. JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
 DEVELOPMENT PANEL  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the Joint Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel meeting held on 
9 February 2021. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record.  

 

   

46. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

 There were none.   

   

47. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6   

  

 There were none.   

   

48. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS   

  

 There were none.   

   

49. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 PANEL  

 

  

 There were none.   

   

50. KEY DECISION PLAN   

  

 Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan dated 22 
February 2021. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Key Decision Plan be noted.  

 

   

51. POLICY REGISTER   

  

 The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register.  
 

 

Page 6



- 28 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 2 March 
2021 

 

 

AGREED: 
 
That the Policy Register be noted.  

   

52. REVIEW OF HOUSING ALLOCATIONS AND LETTINGS 
 POLICY  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Commercialisation (S151) and the Portfolio Holder for HRA and 
Private Sector Housing, which advised of the consultation process 
required to implement the new Housing Allocations and Lettings 
Policy, and sought input from the Panel, prior to its consideration 
by the Cabinet. 
 
Councils were legally required to have a policy on how they 
allocated social housing within their district, and it was essential 
that the Allocations Policy was reviewed regularly to ensure that it 
met current legislation and case law, and reflected the latest 
Council priorities. 
 
The aim of the policy was to: 
 

• Provide an accessible, fair and transparent service; 

• Meet local housing needs; 

• Meet the housing needs of the most vulnerable; 

• Prioritise those with the greatest/most urgent housing needs; 

• Make the best use of existing social housing stock; and 

• Support safe and sustainable communities. 
 
The report detailed the key changes to the proposed new policy. 
 
The Panel thanked officers for the report, and the clarity of the 
information included within it. 
 
AGREED: 
 
a) That the recommendation to Cabinet, to adopt the revised 

Housing Allocations and Lettings Policy, subject to formal 
consultation with partner Registered Providers, be supported; 
and 

 
b) That the recommendation to Cabinet, that amendments to the 

appendices of the Policy and minor operational amendments 
following consultation with partner Registered Providers be 
delegated to the Housing Landlord Services Manager in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for HRA and Private 
Sector Housing, be supported.  

 

   

Page 7



- 29 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 2 March 
2021 

 

 

53. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME   

  

 The Panel considered a report by the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the work programme of the Panel.  
The work programme consisted of two sections, the first setting 
out the dates of future panel meetings along with proposed items 
for consideration, and the second setting out Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel. 
 
Members noted that at its meeting on 23 June 2020, the Panel 
had requested that the Planning Design Task Group undertake 
further work, as a result of more time becoming available to 
investigate the issues within its scope.  However, this had not yet 
occurred, due to potential implications as a result of the 
Government White Paper on Planning Reform, and a change in 
the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for Strategic Planning.  
Clarity was being sought as to the way forward, and to clarify 
timelines for the work of the Task Group. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Work Programme be noted.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CM  

   

54. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT.  

 

  

 There were none.   

   

 
(The meeting ended at 6.45 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 

Page 8



- 1 - 
 

Minutes of a Special Meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL 
AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Marquee Suite, Springfields 
Events & Conference Centre, Camelgate, Spalding, PE12 6ET, on Tuesday, 29 June 
2021 at 6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
B Alcock (Chairman) 

 
 

 

J R Astill 
J Avery 
A C Beal 
F Biggadike 
T A Carter 
A C Cronin 
 

R A Gibson 
J L King 
J D McLean 
A M Newton 
N H Pepper 
P A Redgate 
 

J L Reynolds 
G P Scalese 
A C Tennant 
S C Walsh 
 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors M D Booth, 
C J T H Brewis, M Hasan, G T D Rudkin, S-A Slade, D J Wilkinson and A R Woolf  
 
In Attendance:  Head of Paid Service and Strategic Advisor, Democratic Services 
Manager, Democratic Services Trainee 
 
 
 Action By 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor Alcock was elected Chairman for the duration of the 
meeting. 

 

   

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were no declarations of interest.  

   

3. A NEW LOCAL STRATEGIC ALLIANCE FOR SOUTH-EAST 
LINCOLNSHIRE  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Head of Paid Service 
and Strategic Advisor which set out the recommendations from 
Stage Two of the review of the future of the Integrated Shared 
Management Structure and Joint Working Arrangements for 
South Holland District Council. 
 
Members asked for clarity as to what would happen if either 
Boston Borough Council or East Lindsey District Council did not 
vote to pursue a business case to develop the new local strategic 
alliance for South East Lincolnshire. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor clarified that if the decisions had not 
been agreed at either council then the recommendation 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 2.b)



- 2 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 29 June 2021 

 

 

would not be put forward to South Holland District Council 
members at a special meeting of the council on 1st July.  

 
Members expressed concern over the structure of the Shared 
Senior Management team and how this would be shared across 
the 3 Councils. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor responded as follows: 
o That the shared Senior Management structure 

would include Tiers 1-3 of the current SHDC 
Management structure, which would be the posts of 
Chief Executive, the Executive Directors and the 
Assistant Directors;  

o The Chief Executive and one Executive Director 
post are currently vacant; 

o The costings for this Shared management structure 
are split based on a population ratio of 31% SHDC, 
23% BBC and 46% ELDC; 

o There would be a smaller share of a larger number 
of senior officers across the 3 authorities; 

o There would be a greater cost saving to SHDC 
across this partnership than there was across the 
Breckland partnership and as there would be a 
larger team, there would be more resilience across 
the Senior Management Team; 

o It had been proposed that there would be a Deputy 
Chief Executive in post at each of the three 
authorities; 

o Heads of Service would remain SHDC based. 
 

Members asked what would happen to the current S151 Officer 
and Monitoring Officer at BBC/ELDC if SHDC officers were to be 
installed in those statutory roles across all 3 authorities. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor responded that the current officers 
had been informally consulted about the proposals and 
were in principle happy to relinquish those statutory roles. 
He confirmed that those officers would still be employed 
within the Shared Management Structure. 

 
Members raised concerns over whether the current staff 
employed in the SHDC Management structure were the best fit for 
the roles they were in. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor confirmed: 
o That the starting point for the structure were no 

redundancies for the SHDC senior team. The 

Page 10



- 3 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 29 June 2021 

 

 

partnership’s goal was not to fundamentally 
restructure the management team but a bringing 
together of the strengths of all three existing senior 
teams in a new structure that would work for 
partnership; 

o The strategic alliance has a policy of no compulsory 
redundancies; 

o No concerns about current staff had been raised 
directly with the Head of Paid Service. 

 
Members asked whether there could only be one person 
appointed to each statutory role across the partnership. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor responded: 
o That it had been agreed that only 1 person would be 

designated  in each statutory posts across the 
partnership to enable consistent advice and support 
to be provided across the three authorities.  

o The Monitoring Officer post did not require any 
specific qualifications whereas the S151 officer was 
required to be a qualified accountant and the Head 
of Paid Service was required to have a reasonable 
degree of senior experience and  responsibility.  

 
Members asked whether any resignations had occurred at any 
level since the announcement of the intended partnership. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor confirmed that that was not the 
case. 

 
Members were reassured to hear that a Deputy Chief Executive 
would be put in post and based at South Holland. 
 
Members were concerned that not enough information had been 
contained in the report, that Members had not had enough 
engagement so far in the process and not enough scrutiny had 
taken place. 
 
Members commented that East Lindsey and Boston Councils 
were setting up a Joint Scrutiny Panel specifically to discuss the 
development of the business case for the partnership. Was this 
something that could be set up at South Holland as well? 
 
Members wanted to understand the level of services that East 
Lindsey and Boston were providing their residents with and 
whether they will bring value to South Holland’s services.  
 

Page 11



- 4 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 29 June 2021 

 

 

Members raised concerns that there were no points to be able to 
monitor the success of the partnership included within the report 
other than financial savings. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor confirmed that the purpose of the 
report before members was to signal a direction of intent 
but give the Joint Panels the opportunity to amend or add 
recommendations to the report that would go to Full 
Council. 

 
Members commented that no formal meeting had taken place in 
choosing the preferred partnership option and they felt that an 
executive decision on the preferred option should have been 
taken and scrutiny followed after that.  
 

• The Strategic Advisor confirmed: 
o That no decision had been made so far and the 

decision for Full Council to make was to enter into 
the partnership, subject to the business case that 
would be put forward at the end of July being 
acceptable.  

o A reasonable amount of informal member 
engagement had already taken place prior to a 
preferred option being chosen and Members were 
aware of the reasons for the informal basis of 
engagement; 

o If, it was the view of Members, that the business 
case that was brought to Full Council is not 
satisfactory, the decision to form a partnership 
would be taken or not at that time.; 

 
Members asked who would have input in developing the business 
case and what would be contained within it. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor detailed: 
o That the business case was already being 

developed in anticipation of a decision being made; 
o The business case would detail the strategic and 

financial case for going into the partnership. It would 
detail how financial savings would be made and how 
the strategic priorities would be delivered; 

o It would detail the services that are in scope for 
review and the order in which these services would 
be reviewed; 

o The business case would also include the timeframe 
for the delivery of the programme and any 
investments that were required for that delivery; 

Page 12



- 5 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 29 June 2021 

 

 

o That subject to the decision taken by the Full 
Council, the interim Chief Executive and Head of 
Paid Service, Rob Barlow, would pull together the 
resources to build the business case, memorandum 
of agreement and the proposed structure of the 
partnership to be considered by the Full Council by 
the end of July 2021. 

 
Members asked how the new interim Chief Executive was going 
to get an insight into the way that SHDC works and it needs and 
priorities. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor responded that if Rob Barlow were 
to be appointed as Head of Paid Service and Chief 
Executive on an interim basis, he would engage with 
members immediately to ensure he was aware of the 
priorities of SHDC. 

 
Members expressed concerns that the priorities of South Holland 
did not line up with those of East Lindsey and Boston. 
 
Members raised the following areas as observations to be made 
to Full Council regarding the Panel’s concerns: 
 

• Targets needed to be set that are not purely financial; 

• Reassurance needed to ensure that Senior Managers time 
would not be taken up disproportionately elsewhere; 

• Reinforce that officers were visible and easily accessible to 
members; 

• A robust programme put in place to raise staff morale 
before and after the process; 

• Ensure that the authority was able to take opportunities to 
work with other authorities and private enterprises outside 
of the partnership; 

• Ensure that PSPS maintains its independence as long as it 
remains effective; 

 
The Strategic Advisor reassured Members that priorities would 
always be determined by them. In terms of the partnership, 
priorities need to be looked at on an individual basis to ascertain 
whether they would be better done alone or in partnership. 
 
Members asked whether specific timescales could be written into 
the recommendations to Council. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor asked members for clarity what a 
realistic timescale would look like for them and what format 

Page 13



- 6 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 29 June 2021 

 

 

they would like Scrutiny to take place in. 
 
Members asked whether the other 2 authorities were member-led. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor informed Members that work would 
need to be done to assure officers that the relationship with 
members would be the same and consistent across the 
partnership and that members expectations were taken 
into consideration. 

 
Members questioned how the 31% time share for shared officers 
would work in a practical sense.  
 
Members were disappointed that the business case had not yet 
been developed and presented to members as part of the report. 
 

• The Strategic Advisor confirmed that the business case 
had not yet been developed as a decision was only made 
recently but that Members would have time to consider the 
business case before the Council meeting at the end of 
July. 

 
The Panel agreed that more time was needed to look at the 
business case and member input was vital and the potential 
interim Chief Executive and Head of Paid Service needed to be 
involved in those conversations. 
 
Key areas for discussion to include: 

• New Structure 

• Memorandum of Agreement – how partnership is governed 

• Business Case 
 
DECISION: 
 
It is suggested that a further recommendation be made to the Full 
Council, the recommendation being: 
 
‘That a Joint PDP/PMP Working Group be established to review 
the proposed report and associated documentation in advance of 
the business case decision for the next Council decision.  
 

• The associated documentation to include the Business 
Case, Memorandum of Agreement and proposed structure 
for consultation. 

• The Working Group to include the Chairman and Vice 
Chairman of PDP and PMP and the remaining members to 
be appointed from the membership of the above Panels 

Page 14



- 7 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 29 June 2021 

 

 

and to reflect where possible the political balance of the 
Council. 

• A series of topic briefings will be prepared by officers for 
the Working Group’s considerations.  

• The Joint PDP/PMP Working Group to provide a report and 
recommendations directly back to the Council on its 
findings as part of the next report to the Council. 

• The final version of the report will be for the Chairman and 
Vice Chairman of the Working Group to agree following 
Member opportunity to provide feedback.’ 

   

4. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 8.25pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



- 8 - 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in the Marquee Suite, Springfields Events & 
Conference Centre, Camelgate, Spalding, PE12 6ET, on Thursday, 22 July 2021 at 
6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
A R Woolf (Chairman) 

 
 

 

B Alcock 
F Biggadike 
M D Booth 
C J T H Brewis 
 

T A Carter 
R A Gibson 
J D McLean 
N H Pepper 
 

J L Reynolds 
G P Scalese 
S C Walsh 
D J Wilkinson 
 

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J R Astill, 
J Avery, A C Beal, A C Cronin, M Hasan, J L King, P A Redgate, G T D Rudkin, S-
A Slade, A C Tennant and J Tyrrell  
 
In Attendance:  The Strategic Advisor and the Democratic Services Manager  
 
 
 Action By 

5. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   

  

 Councillor Woolf was elected as Chairman.  

   

6. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS   

  

 There were no declarations of interest.  

   

7. SOUTH EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP   

  

 The Strategic Advisor (SA) introduced the report and advised that 

he would go through the Business Case, Structure and 

Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) in order, taking questions 

following a brief introduction of each.  The questions/key points 

raised and answers provided were as follows: 

 

Business Case: 

• Concern was raised about joining a ‘ready-made’ 

partnership/alliance and nervousness was expressed 

regarding being ‘left behind’ as a lot of joint work had already 

been started – where would this leave South Holland staff? 

o The SA advised that lots of opportunities were still 

available and already a baseline had been set with 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 2.c)



- 9 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 July 2021 

 

 

PSPS working across the three authorities. 

o The business case identified a number of opportunities 

for the partnership, subject to further Member decision 

and scrutiny. 

o Progress had been made by the Strategic Alliance 

which was a positive indication of the partnership.  

• A serious look at leisure and market provision within the 

district was requested by members with reassurances that this 

work would move quickly. 

o The SA confirmed that each Council would have an 

Annual Delivery Plan setting out clear priorities and 

timescales and this would go to each respective 

authority’s Annual Council meeting for approval. 

o Some early opportunities had already been identified in 

the work ELDC had been leading which would be 

advantageous for SHDC, this would be shared with 

Members. 

• Concern was raised as to whether there would be sufficient 

resilience to be able to finalise three sets of draft accounts in a 

timely manner.  

o The Deputy S151 officer advised that PSPS, as a 

provider, were still bedding into Boston and East 

Lindsey and acknowledged the fact that South Holland 

was still waiting for the draft financial statements, the 

deadline of which was the coming Friday.  

• How would cross border refuse collections work – would South 

Holland continue to use bags?   

o The SA confirmed that there was nothing contained 

within the document for transformation and change and 

nothing setting out changes to services.  There was no 

reason why bags would change.   

o The Environment Bill would have a cost impact so 

where there were opportunities over three councils it 

would make sense to look at them. 

o Opportunities could exist for depots, fleet maintenance 

and where the partnership councils shared a border. 

 

Page 18



- 10 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 July 2021 

 

 

• Would South Holland’s meeting rooms be set up for agile 

working. 

o The SA advised that agile working still needed to be 

worked through. There was a need to consider the most 

effective way to use technology.  It was important that 

the senior team was able to operate in an agile way 

across the partnership in support of Members and local 

communities. 

• On Page 93 it talked about investment in resources – what 

conversations have already taken place? 

o The SA confirmed, with regard to investment in 

systems, that PSPS had an existing transformation 

plan to get the three councils on all the same 

systems – this would be a huge advantage. This 

decision would come back to members for a decision 

on the way forward.   

o The reason why a ‘whole approach’ was asked for 

was that it provided the biggest benefit and 

opportunity for value for money 

• On Page 31 of the Business Plan it was requested that more 

towns were included as opposed to just Spalding and 

Holbeach and on Page 89 it mentioned both scrutiny panels 

but it was requested that this include Governance and Audit 

also – this was noted and agreed. 

 

Structure 

The SA advised that there was resilience in the structure and 18 

officers would be available to the partnership.  The structure 

showed a scale of ambition that would be able to influence 

attracting additional resources into the area.  The structure 

provided sound financial management and corporate governance. 

• Members asked for assurances that there would be a 

willingness to amend and review the structure and that the 

authority shouldn’t be bound to it.  The district council should 

be fully manned and fully delivering.  The morale of the staff 

was questioned along with a request for reassurance that work 

would be undertaken to improve it – it was hoped that 

performance and delivery would also improve as a result. 

o The SA responded that the staff affected had come 

Page 19



- 11 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 July 2021 

 

 

together as a team and they already had worked 

together previously.  He confirmed that the structure 

was a proposed structure which has been designed to 

support the Members ambitions  It was a good first 

attempt, but it needed to be tested by going live.  It 

provided the opportunity for a ‘safe landing space’ for 

each of the senior management team.  There would be 

no redundancies – it was important for those officers 

who came from Breckland to land safely.   

o Any structure must be able to deliver the political 

priorities, ambitions and outcomes for each council and 

therefore the structure would always be capable of 

refinement and change.  

• Assurance was sought that there would be a senior officer in 

South Holland. 

o The SA confirmed that it had been 10 months since the 

previous CEX had left the authority and it had been 

quite a long and unsettled period.  The authority was 

also one Executive Director down.  Christine Marshall 

had covered all 3 roles.  Rob Barlow was a resident of 

South Holland.   

o It was proposed that Christine Marshall would be the 

Deputy Chief Executive and S151 Officer and Mark 

Stinson would be the Monitoring Officer.  Therefore the 

3 most senior staff would either be South Holland staff 

or South Holland residents which put the authority in a 

strong position.   

o The SA confirmed that there would be 4 DCEX’s – one 

at each authority and one to support the other 3.   

o Delegations to the DCEX need to be considered for 

each authority. 

• Confirmation was requested as to whether the position of the 

4th DCEX was currently vacant and whether all three 

authorities would be included in the selection process.  

Concern was raised as the ‘Place’ element felt light and 

surprise that this had not been included in Community 

Leadership.   There did not appear to be a lot in the Delivery 

team but only 2 Assistant Directors in Growth – it felt 

unbalanced, and it was difficult to judge until more information 

was available   

Page 20



- 12 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 July 2021 

 

 

o The SA advised that within the Growth Portfolio was 

more responsibility for the core services – there was a 

need to ensure specific officers would work on delivery 

and not get mixed up in other work. This mirror the 

current roles within the SHDC structure but at a larger 

scale.  

o The MO confirmed that the appointment process would 

be through a member appointment Panel with 2 

members from each of the three councils.  He 

confirmed that there was still work to do with these 

bodies and changes to the constitutions would be 

required.  However, it was anticipated that most if not 

all current officers would be matched to a suitable post 

and be slotted in. Where there wasn’t a slot-in, and for 

future appointments to the shared management team, 

these would be member appointments. 

• Members raised the need to build a greater partnership with 

Internal Drainage Boards more.  If growth and more house 

building was required, then the government should be lobbied 

to use IDB’s. 

o The SA advised that the partnership would cover 40% 

of Lincolnshire and this provided the opportunity for a 

different seat at the table.  There was now the 

opportunity to make and influence changes. 

• Members asked whether all staff had been informed and 

queried how the more junior staff felt about it? 

o The SA confirmed that they were not proposing sharing 

any more staff other than senior staff at this stage.   

o All existing Heads of Service/Managers would remain 

based in their existing authority.  He confirmed that at 

this stage nothing would change, and staff were aware 

through a series of regular updates from the Leader 

and Senior Staff. 

• Members requested a better system on keeping them involved 

and queried how communication would work with all political 

parties. 

o The SA advised that the Memorandum of Agreement 

listed how this would work.  He added that scrutiny 

should work together but confirmed that he was not 

necessarily recommending joint scrutiny and individual 

Page 21



- 13 - 
 
JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT 
PANEL - 22 July 2021 

 

 

scrutiny and local ways would dominate.   

o The SA noted that CEX briefings with opposition parties 

was an extremely useful exercise and helped to prevent 

a lot of misunderstandings by involving and informing. 

 

Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) 

The Monitoring Officer introduced the MOA and informed all 

present that it was the same agreement that had been in place 

with Breckland.  There still needed to be an external review of the 

Agreement but he was comfortable that it was a robust document.   

• Members questioned whether, as in 8.3 of the MOA, 12 

months was sufficient notice to leave the partnership. 

o The MO advised that it had been 6 months with 

Breckland and an earlier draft of this Agreement had 

been 24 months. 12 months was considered reasonable 

– 24 months was certainly a very long notice period. 

• Members questioned the sharing of costs as detailed in 13.1. 

o The MO advised that this had been the case with the 

Breckland partnership. 

The SA thanked all present for the open and transparent 

discussion.  He advised all present that external views were still 

being sought to ensure the document was robust prior to sign off. 

   

8. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 8.23 pm) 
 
(End of minutes) 
 
 
 

Page 22



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 13 September 
2021 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 23

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (A) 
 

Acquisition of a second hand property. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 30 Sep 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (C) 
 

Acquisition of property. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 30 Sep 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (D) 
 

Acquisition of property 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 30 Sep 2021 
 

P
age 24



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (E) 
 

Acquisition of property 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 30 Sep 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery (F) 
 

Acquisition of property 
 

 
 
 
 

 Portfolio Holder for Assets 
& Planning, or Leader  
 
Before 30 Sep 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for HRA & 
Private Sector 
Housing 
 
Fire door and 
Compliance 
contract 
 

Fire door replacement and associated 
fire compliance works to sheltered 
schemes 
 

 
 
 
 

 Assistant Director 
Housing, or any other 
officer with delegation  
 
Before 30 Sep 2021 
 

P
age 25



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Assets & 
Planning 
 
HRA 
Development 
Framework 
 

To agree a framework for future HRA 
housing development investment 
decisions. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 26 Oct 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 24 Nov 2021 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Communities 
& Facilities 
 
Implications from 
Covid-19 on the 
leisure operating 
contract 
 

To assess the impact of Covid-19 on 
the leisure operating contract 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Cabinet 26 Oct 2021, or 
Leader 
 
South Holland District 
Council 24 Nov 2021 
 

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

P
age 26



 
5 

 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor H Drury (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Grocock (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor E J Sneath (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

P
age 27

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 

SHDC Policy Register 
 

 

 

 

Rows are sorted by End Date 
 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

Asset Management 
Strategy 

Constitutional Yes 18-Jun-2014 5 years 18-Jun-2019 Due for 
review 

A revised date for commencing the drafting of the full 
Asset Management Strategy (AMS) was to be Q1 
2021 delayed on the basis that COVID has impacted 
many of our assets. Data collection has commenced 
and the proposed structure of the document 
developed. However, with lockdown and various 
regulations continuing through the Summer, some 
operational assets have remained closed, in the 
case of South Holland Centre until late July and 
Ayscoughee Museum September. Given this the 
time has not been right to progress a meaningful 
AMS.  
 
There was a proposal to prepare an interim AMS in 
November 2020 on the basis that over the Summer 
of 2020, Covid case numbers were falling and 
facilities starting to reopen but still too much 
uncertainty to rewrite the full strategy.. However, 
with the continued uncertainty brought about by the 
move to tiering, then 2nd national lockdown in 
November 2020 and further lockdown in January 
2021, it was decided that there was little merit writing 
an interim statement when so much uncertainty 
remained. In addition, proposals were being 
developed for a potential separation of sharing 
arrangements with Breckland District Council and 
the rewriting of a new Corporate Plan both of which 
would have a bearing on the content of the strategy 
in addition to the pandemic response and 
subsequent recovery phases. This separation took 
place in May 21 followed by a restructure placing 
“Assets” under a New Assistant Director so all asset 

Marc Whelan 
/Richard Hodgson 

  

P
age 29

A
genda Item

 8.



2 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

and property project related matters were within one 
team. All these changes will need to be reflected in 
the rewrite. 

 
On 29th July Council agreed to form a  new strategic 
partnership with Boston and East Lindsey. The AMS 
will need to reflect these new management 
arrangements. A new target date and resource plan 
for drafting of the AMS will be agreed in September 
so that the revised AMS can be completed this 
calendar year (2021)  

AHM Collections 
Development Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-
2020 

In Review Policies were brought forward to the November 
meeting of PDP and noted. Final approval is now 
being sought for PFH sign off, this is expected to be 
signed off by the end of Sep 

Julia Knight   

AHM Collections 
Care and 
Conservation Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-
2020 

In Review Policies were brought forward to the November 
meeting of PDP and noted. Final approval is now 
being sought for PFH sign off, this is expected to be 
signed off by the end of Sep 

Julia Knight   

ICT Incident 
Management 

Non-Statutory Yes 21-Jan-2020 Annual 19-
Feb02021 

In Review This policy is in final draft having had Data protection 
officer input and will be submitted to management 
team for approval this month, it is then intended this 
will be presented to PDP on the 16th November 

Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

 Policy 
Development 
Panel 

Employee Access 
Policy 

Non-statutory Yes 21-JAN-2020 Annual 19-FEB-
2021 

In review This policy is in final draft having had Data protection 
officer input and will be submitted to management 
team for approval this month, it is then intended this 
will be presented to PDP on the 16th November 

Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

 Policy 
Development 
Panel 

Corporate Plan Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 01-Mar-
2021 

In Review The work to review the corporate plan has started 
and the proposed document will be coming forward 
for member consideration in due course. The work 
on the corporate plan is being pursued with an eye 
to the emerging work around the wider strategic 
partnership. 

Matthew Hogan   

Data Protection 
Policy 

Statutory No 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-
2021 

Ready for 
approval 

Policy has been updated/amended, policy owner is 
happy to bring to next PDP if required. 

Kirsty Mallett   

Corporate 
Enforcement Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-
2021 

In Review Policy currently under review, on forward plan to be 
brought to PDP on 16th November 

Donna Hall   

Freedom of 
Information (FoI) 

Statutory No 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 In Review Policy currently under review, on forward plan to be 
brought to PDP on 16th November 

Jenny 
Stephens/Corey 

  

P
age 30



3 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

Policy Gooch 

Corporate Debt 
Policy - Accounting 
Services 

Non Statutory Yes 25-Jul-2017 3 years 25-Jul-2021 Due for 
Review 

This will be reviewed in the next 6 months, with 
implementation for any revised policy from April 
2022. 
The current policy remains valid. 

Samantha 
Knowles/Sharon 
Hammond 

 TBC 

Industrial Units 
Letting Policy 

Non Statutory No 27-Oct-2020 1 Year 01-Sep-
2021 

Due for 
Review 

 Richard Hodgson   

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-
2021 

Approved  Clinton Bell   

Safeguarding Policy Statutory No 20-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-
2021 

Approved  Donna Hall   

Unreasonable 
Behaviour and 
vexatious requests 

Non Statutory Yes 21-Nov-2017 3 years 21-Nov-
2021 

Approved  Sarah 
Wolstenholme-
Smy 

  

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of 
Principles 

Constitutional Yes 28-Nov-2018 3 years 28-Nov-
2021 

Approved  Donna Hall   

Housing Tenancy 
Management Policy 

Statutory Yes 15-Dec-2020 1 Year 15-Dec-
2021 

Approved  Vikki Cherry   

Records 
Management Policy 

  Yes   3 years 01-Jan-2022 Pending 
Approval 

 Kirsty Mallett   

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory Yes 18-Jan-2021 3 years 18-Jan-2022 In Review The policy handbook will be reviewed early 2022, a 
clause states in this handbook that unless significant 
changes are made then this policy handbook does 
not need to be reviewed by Committee, as there will 
be no significant changes the HR manager does not 
feel a review will be required. However the panel will 
be notified when the review is complete. 

Claire Burton   

Strategic Tenancy 
Policy 

Statutory No 01-Feb-2019 3 years 01-Feb-
2022 

Approved Caroline Hannon Attended PDP  in Feb where it was 
agreed to go to Senior Officers to determine the 
appetite for reviewing, the Panel were satisfied that 
officers would determine if there was an appetite for 
this. 
 
All councils are told to have a strategic tenancy 
policy, but this isn’t one that needs a formal review 
at this stage 

Matthew Hogan   

P
age 31



4 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

Anti-Social 
Behaviour Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-May-2019 3 years 01-Mar-
2022 

Approved The ASB Policy has been approved, as it is currently 
that of the Lincolnshire County Council one. The 
County one is currently out for consultation as it has 
been updated in line with new recommendations 
from the victims commissioner, any updated on this 
will be fed through to PDP 

Dee Bedford   

Capital Strategy Constitutional Yes 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in March 2021 (Annual 
review as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Fees and Charges 
Policy  

Constitutional Yes 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2021 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 

Constitutional No 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2021 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy (Includes 
Statement and 
Clauses) 

Constitutional No 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement 

Constitutional No 03-Mar-2021 1 year 03-Mar-
2022 

Approved Approved by full council in Feb 2020 (Annual review 
as part of budget setting Process) 

Samantha 
Knowles 

Part of 
council 
papers 

Full Council 

Affordable Housing 
Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 01-Jan-2009 3 years 01-Apr-2022 Approved This Policy has approved within the Local Plan, It 
has been agreed there doesn't need to be a 
separate housing strategy, this has now been 
formally adopted in line with the Local Plan 

Matthew Hogan   

Taxi Licensing 
Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 01-Jun-2019 3 years 01-Jun-2022 Approved  Donna Hall   

Housing Allocations 
and Letting Policy 

Statutory Yes 27-Apr-2021 1 years 27-Apr-2022 Approved This policy has been approved by PDP and Cabinet Vikki Cherry  Cabinet 

Sexual 
Establishments 
Policy Statement 

Non Statutory Yes 06-Sep-2017 5 years 06-Sep-
2022 

Approved  
 

Donna Hall   

Constitution Statutory No 18-Jan-2018 1 year Ongoing Approved Changes continue to be made when and where 
necessary and agreed at Council on a regular basis. 

Rhonda Booth   

Health & Safety Statutory No 15-Dec-2020 3 years 15-Dec- Approved This has been agreed by PSPS to be a 3 yearly Emily Ferrier; Nick   

P
age 32



5 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible 
scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy 
Status  

Latest Update Policy Owner Policy 
Location 

Final Approval 
Panel 

Policy 2023 policy review cycle in line with other organisations. Kendrick 

Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 11-Mar-2021 3 years 01-Mar-
2024 

Approved  Faye Haywood https://www.sh
olland.gov.uk/
article/5273/Pl
ans-Policies-
and-Strategies 

Governance and 
Audit 

Whistleblowing 
Policy - Confidential 
Reporting Code 

Statutory Yes 11-Mar-2021 3 years 01-Mar-
2024 

Approved  Faye Haywood https://www.sh
olland.gov.uk/
article/5273/Pl
ans-Policies-
and-Strategies 

Governance and 
Audit 

Empty Homes 
Strategy 

Statutory Yes 27-Oct-2020 1 year 01-Mar-
2024 

Approved  Jason King  Cabinet 

Housing Assistance 
Policy 

Statutory Yes 27-Oct-2020 1 year 01-Mar-
2024 

Approved  Jason King  Cabinet 

Statement of 
Licensing Policy 

Constitutional Yes 07-Jan-2021 5 years 07-Jan-2026 Approved The statement of licensing policy has been revised 
and republished. Not due now until Jan 2026 

Donna Hall   

 
  

P
age 33

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/8GhCC7Lqqiz8xrni8SKY7?domain=sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Assets & Planning and/or Assistant Director Communities 

and Operations 

 

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 21 September 2021  

 

(Author: Clinton Bell Building Control Manager) 

 

Subject Street Naming and Numbering Policy 

 

Purpose: That the Policy Development Panel review the revised Street Naming and 

Numbering Policy 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the Policy Development Panel review the revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy 

and recommend its adoption  
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The Council has a duty under sections 17-19 of the Public Health Act 1925 (“the 1925 Act”) 

and sections 64 and 65 of the Town Improvement Clauses Act 1847 (“the 1847 Act”) to 

ensure that all roads in South Holland District are named and all properties numbered or 

named. The responsibility for dealing with applications for street naming and numbering, or 

re-naming, or re-numbering is administered by the Council’s Building Control section who 

will ensure that this information is relayed to appropriate organisations. 

 

1.2 To ensure that this service is operated effectively and efficiently it is necessary to set out 

procedures and performance standards. The current Street Naming and Numbering Policy 

was adopted in 2018.  

 

1.3 The main purpose of the policy is to provide a workable framework for the Council to 

operate its street naming and numbering function effectively and efficiently according to set 

procedures and performance standards, for the benefit of residents and visitors to South 

Holland. It outlines how this will be carried out providing: guidelines on choice of name for 

streets in new development, design and positioning of street name plates, repair, 

maintenance and numbering/naming of properties; cost recovery; refunds; records; 

timescales; enforcement; and appeals. 

 

1.4 The Building Control Manager was approached to review the policy to allow Parish/Town 

Council and Ward Members the opportunity to make suggestions for road names at an 

earlier stage of the process. This amendment reflects this request. 

 

 

 

 

Page 35

Agenda Item 9.



2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Option (A) – Do Nothing 

 

2.2 The ‘Do Nothing’ option is not recommended. The revisions to the policy should allow 

Parish/Town Council and/or Ward members to be involved with the naming of streets at an 

earlier stage. 

 

2.3 Option (B) - That the Policy Development Panel review the revised Street Naming and 

Numbering Policy and recommend its adoption  

 

2.4 This option is recommended. There have been no changes to the Council’s responsibilities 

in respect of street naming and numbering. The Council is still required to provide this 

service and to ensure there is no confusion over addresses of properties in the District.  

 

2.5 There is only a small change to the policy in terms of procedure. The main proposed 

change is to allow Parish/Town Councils and/or Ward members to make suggestions for 

new street names at the Planning stage. 

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 The recommendations set out above are self-explanatory. 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 To ensure that the current policy is up to date and fit for purpose, providing clarity as to how 

streets and properties should be named and numbered. 

 

4.2 Allow Parish/Town Councils and/or Ward members to make suggestions for new streets 

which could strengthen local identity. 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Health & Wellbeing 

5.1.1 Clear street naming and property numbering makes it easier for the emergency services to 

locate properties. 

 

5.2 Reputation 

5.2.1 Where streets have been poorly named or numbered in the past the Council have received 

adverse press publicity, this policy seeks to eliminate that. 

 

 

Page 36



6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All wards and communities are affected 

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 None 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Clinton Bell Building Control Manager 

Telephone Number  

Email: cbell@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix 1 Revised Street Naming and Numbering Policy 

 

 

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Policy Name:  

Responsible 
Executive: 

 Date of signing:  

Responsible 
Office: 

 Date of signing:  

Policy Register 
Number: 

 Service Area:  

Adopted:  Reviewed:  

Page 39



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

 
 

Contents 
 
 

1. Introduction .......................................................................................................... 3 
 

2. What is our aim? .................................................................................................. 3 
 

3. Why are we doing it? ............................................................................................ 3 
 

4. How will we do it? ................................................................................................. 3 
 

5. How will we measure our progress? .................................................................... 7 
 

6. Who will do this? .................................................................................................. 8 
 

7. Appendices .......................................................................................................... 8 
 

Appendix A – Schedule of Street Naming and Numbering Charges ........................... 9 
 

Appendix B – Supplementary Guidance ................................................................... 10 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

 

1. Introduction 

 

 
The District Council requires street name plates to be clearly legible and to conform to 
the Council’s agreed specification. Wherever possible the name plates should enhance 
the street scene and preserve the local character and identity. 

 
Clearly legible street name plates are essential for the emergency and postal services 
as well as for the convenience and safety of the general public. It should be 
remembered that street name plates need to be legible by night as well as by day.  
 
The principles of this policy are supported in law under the following Acts: 

• Disability Discrimination Act 1995 
• Public Health Act 1925 (sections 17,19) 
• Public Health Act 1907 (section 21) 

 
 South Holland District Council’s 

• Code of Conduct 
• Consultation and Participation Strategy and Methods 
• Vision and Corporate Plan 

 

2. What is our aim? 

 

The aim of this policy is to provide a workable framework for South Holland District 
Council to operate its street naming and numbering function effectively and efficiently 
according to  set  procedures  and  performance  standards,  for  the  benefit  of  the 
residents of and visitors to South Holland. 

3. Why are we doing it? 

 

The Council has a duty to ensure that all roads in the South Holland District are named 
and all properties numbered or named. The responsibility for dealing with applications 
for street naming and numbering, or re-naming, or re- numbering will be administered 
by the Building Control section of Planning and Development Services who will ensure 
that this information is relayed to appropriate organisations. To ensure that the service 
is operated effectively and efficiently it is necessary to set out procedures and 
performance standards. 

4. How will we do it? 

Page 41



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

This policy is divided into several sections: 
 
- Guidelines 
- Cost recovery 
- Records 
- Time scales 
- Enforcement 
- Appeal 

 

 
GUIDELINES 
 
Choice of name for streets in new developments 
 
Whilst the clarity of street numbering, naming and name plates is important for all users 
from visitors to the emergency services, street names often preserve facets of a 
settlement’s history. In Spalding, for example, the names Herring Lane, Hall Place, 
Foundry Lane and Hole-in-the-Wall Passage reflect former activities of the area. 
Unfortunately over the years this distinctive naming culture has been replaced by a 
trend for using names with no significant meaning for the location. However, it is hoped 
that by thoughtful, informed choice of street names such as Cley Hall Drive and Castle 
Fields, new developments can help to preserve and strengthen the local identity. 
 
In choosing street names, developers and individuals will be required to respect the 
proper meaning of terms such as ‘Close’, ‘Drive’, ‘Court’ etc which are in danger of 
being lost through inappropriate use. 
 
To prevent confusion names must not be similar to, or sound similar to others in the 
same town, village or postal region.  
 
The 'Postal Region' is used throughout this document and is as defined by Royal Mail 
and adopted by South Holland District Council for the avoidance of confusion. It 
consists of the first 3 or 4 digits of the first part of the postal code and the first digit of 
the second part of the postal code, i.e. PE11 3.. , PE12 9.., PE6 0.. and this definition 
will be used throughout this document. 
 
Preference will be given to names drawing on topographical features or historical 
association of the site or surrounding area. 
 
Design of street name plates 
 
In conservation areas and all other parts of a town or village where historic street signs 
remain, the historic signs must be retained. If a structure carrying a historic sign is to be 
demolished or redeveloped, the sign must be retained, refurbished and re-used. 
 
In new developments the design shall be as set out in the Council’s Supplementary 
Guidance for street name-plates which has been drawn up in accordance with Ministry 
of Transport Circular 3/93. 
 
Positioning of street name plates 

Page 42



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

 
Street name plates should normally be mounted in the preferred order, on legs, on 
walls, buildings, railings or boundary structures at the nearest point to the highway 
boundary or back edge of footway. 
 
Location requirements are set out in the Council’s Supplementary Guidance. 
 
Repair and maintenance 
 
The current stock will be maintained by the Council and a rolling programme will be 
introduced to bring the existing street name plates up to the Council’s agreed standard. 
 
The Council has a responsibility to carry out a survey of the condition of the District’s 
existing street name plates and Parish Councils and Civic Societies will be encouraged 
to assist in the identification of damaged, missing or signs in poor state of repair. 
 
Numbering/naming of properties 
 
Mandatory numbering will be applied to both new and existing properties during any 
renumbering or postal identification process of properties. On occasion there may be 
exemptions to this process, however, these will be at the discretion of the Council. 
Naming of properties with no number displayed is only acceptable where there is no 
current numbering scheme in place 
 
COST RECOVERY 
 
The Power to charge falls under Section 93 of the Local Government Act 2003. This 
sets out that a local authority may charge for discretionary services. Discretionary 
services are those services that an authority has the power but not a duty to provide. 
An authority may charge where the person who receives the service has agreed to its 
provision and the charge must not exceed the cost of providing the service. The 
Council cannot charge for Street Naming services (since the duty to provide this 
service is not discretionary), but it can charge for elements of the naming and 
numbering function (which is a discretionary service) by virtue of Section 64 and 65 of 
the 1847 Act coupled with Section 93 of the 2003 Act 
 
For Street Naming and Numbering the charges cover the following elements; 
 

• Consultation and liaising with other external organisations such as Royal Mail, 
Parish/Town Councils, Ward Members (as a non-statutory element of naming 
streets). 

• The naming of new streets 
• The naming and/or numbering of new properties (including conversions). 
• Alteration in either name or numbers to new developments after initial naming 

and/or numbering has been undertaken.  
• Renaming of existing properties. 
• Addition of names to an already numbered property. 
• Confirmation of existing addresses. 
• Challenges to existing official naming/numbering schemes/addresses held within 

the Street naming and Numbering records. 

Page 43



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

 
All charges are to be paid prior to any service being provided. Please note: Any change 
to a property name/number made without contacting the Council will not be officially 
recognized and will not be registered with service providers and/or other organisations. 
 
The Scale of Charges for Street Naming and Numbering can be found in Appendix A. 
 
Fees and charges applicable for Street naming and Numbering service(s) will be 
annually reviewed during the Council's budget setting process and publicized through 
the Council's agreed communication channels including the website. 
 
Payment can be made by phone by contacting us on 01775 764723 after completing 
the appropriate application form. Large developments may be invoiced if required and 
payment made via the methods indicated on the invoice. 
 
Where a local authority wishes to charge for discretionary services, Section 93 of the 
Local Government Act 2003 allows charging on a 'not for profit' basis, that is, the 
Council can only aim to recover costs incurred. This is to encourage improvements to 
existing services and to develop new services with the aim of improving overall 
services to the customer. 
 
All new development within South Holland will require the use of the Street Naming and 
Numbering function, as all new development needs address data, be they residential or 
commercial. There is a considerable amount of resource, both in staff time and 
associated costs that are incurred in the Street Naming and Numbering process. 
 
REFUNDS 
 
Where an application form and fee has been submitted and a naming/numbering 
scheme has already been issued, no refund of fee will be available. No refund of the 
street naming fee can be made once a name has been submitted for the consultation 
period. 
 
It has been agreed by the District Council that any Parish/Town council requiring a 
‘leading to’ sign to be installed in addition to, or instead of, the mandatory sign, will be 
liable to pay 50% of the cost involved in purchasing and installing such a sign. This 
percentage split will be assessed and agreed on an annual basis by the District 
Council. 
 
Where an existing sign is damaged, and the person or persons responsible is known, 
then the cost of replacing the sign, including any administrative charges, will be 
recovered from them. There will be no profit element in this charge. 
 
RECORDS 
 
Written records will be issued to interested parties and the information stored in 
electronic format by the Council. 
 
TIME SCALES 
 

Page 44



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

Street numbering will be effective 7 working days from the date of issue of the 
schedule. 
 
Street renumbering will be effective, following completion of the necessary consultation 
and decision making process, from the date of issue of the schedule. 
 
Street naming will be effective, following all necessary consultations and approvals, 
from the date of issue of the schedule. 
 
Street renaming. Following consultation with and agreement from relevant 
stakeholders. Owners/occupiers will receive notification of the intended street renaming 
6 months prior to implementation, a further two notices will be issued at 28 and 7 days 
prior to implementation. 
 
Installation of street signs by the Council.  Signs will be erected within 4 weeks of 
delivery of the signs from the manufacturer. 
 
Installation of street signs by developers. Signs will be installed within 14 days of 
occupation of the first property in the development. 
 
ENFORCEMENT 
 
On occasion action may be required to ensure that names and numbers are correctly 
displayed. Initially, an informal approach will be attempted to resolve the issue. If 
however this fails to achieve a satisfactory solution, the authority may resort to litigation 
through the Magistrate’s Court. 
 
APPEAL 
 
If any resident/owner or interested party wishes to appeal against a decision of the 
Council, they should in the first instance seek to do so through the Council’s complaints 
procedure. If this fails to satisfy, they have the right to seek redress through the 
Magistrate’s Court under the Public Health Act 1925. 
 
• Councillors 
• Parish/Town Councils 
• Citizens of South Holland 
• Business operating within South Holland 
• All permanent and temporary employees of the Council 
• Contractors and sub-contractors 
• Service users 
  

5. How will we measure our progress?  

Monitoring and review 
 

Page 45



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

The Building Control Manager will review the operation of this policy 12 Months after its 
implementation. The outcomes and effectiveness of the policy may be managed by the 
use of local key performance indicators. 
 
The policy will be monitored in the following ways: 
 

MONITORING ACTIVITY PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

Check to see if the policy has been 
implemented effectively 

Building Control Manager 

Data collection and quarterly reporting Building Control Manager 

Periodic check of performance Building Control Manager 

Review of policy Building Control Manager 

Survey of customer satisfaction Building Control Manager 

Guidance package on implementation and 
use for new customers 

Building Control Manager 

External auditing to be in conjunction with 
Building Control Service 

Building Control Manager 

 
 

Complaints/grievance procedure 
 
If any member of the public or member of our staff believes that the Council has acted 
in a way that is not in accordance with this policy the Council’s formal complaints 
procedure and grievance policy should be followed. We will take appropriate action to 
remedy any breaches. 
 

6. Who will do this? 

 
The commitment of everyone in the South Holland District including District Councillors, 
Town/Parish councils, local interest groups, businesses, residents and employees is 
essential to make this policy a success. The Building Control Manager has operational 
responsibility for this service, whilst overall responsibility rests with the Place Manager. 

7. Appendices 

Appendix A - Scale of Charges for Street Naming and Numbering 
Appendix B – Supplementary Guidance 
 
 

Page 46



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

 

Appendix A – Schedule of Street Naming and Numbering 
Charges 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Existing Addresses (or addresses on new developments where schedules of numbering scheme 

have already been agreed and issued) 
 

Type of Project Charge 

Renaming/Renumbering/Adding Name to an 
Already Numbered property 

£40.00 

Development renumbering due to change in 
layout (plot numbers or positions) 

£25 per plot requiring renumbering 

Renaming/Renumbering of street where 
requested by residents 

Fees dependent on number of properties 
(see fees for New Addresses below) 

 
 

New Addresses (new plots added to an existing street) 
 

Naming/Numbering of up to 5 new 
properties 

   £40.00 per plot (capped at £120.00) 

Naming/Numbering from 6 to 25 new 
properties 

   £120.00 plus £15.00 per plot (capped at 
£350.00) 

Naming/Numbering from 26 to 75 new 
properties 

   £120.00 plus £10.00 per plot (capped at 
£750.00) 

Naming/Numbering of more than 75 
properties 

   Price on application 

Naming/Numbering following conversion of 
existing property to alternative configuration 

   £40.00 plus £10.00 per property 

Re-issue of an address for a replacement 
dwelling 

£50.00 

 
 
New Addresses (new plots combined with creation of new streets(s)) 
 

Additional charge where new street names 
required 

   £100.00 up to 5 new street names plus 
£10.00        per additional street thereafter 

 
 

 

 

Schedule of Street Naming 
and Numbering Charges 

Page 47



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

Appendix B – Supplementary Guidance 

 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

As set out under the Public Health Act 1925, the Council must provide property 
numbering schemes and implement the name of every street to be conspicuously 
displayed in or near the street. Ministry of Transport Circular 3/93 reminds Authorities 
of the need to maintain such property numbering scheme and all street name plates to 
a good standard, improving existing standards where necessary. It is the Council’s 
duty under the Street Naming and Numbering Policy to implement its procedures in 
accordance with the attached Supplementary Guidance. 

 

2. STREET NAMING (NEW DEVELOPMENTS) PROCEDURE 
 

2.1.1. It is advisable that the builder, owner or developer submits suggestions for 
street names for agreement as early as possible in the application/build 
process. This is particularly relevant on large developments where sales 
promotion literature often includes names, which may not have been 
approved and may be unacceptable to the District Council. Builders, 
developers and owners will be asked to provide a number of alternative 
names, which should not duplicate, or sound similar, to other names in the 
town, village or Postal District. Three suggestions are requested as a 
minimum. It is necessary for the Council to consult the appropriate parish or 
town council and ward members and a 21-day period for objections to be 
submitted is specified to avoid unnecessary delay. Only valid reasons for 
objections will be considered. 

 
2.1.2. It is suggested that prior to any names being proposed, local opinion is 

sought on possible names e.g., through the local parish or town council. This 
should help to identify names with particular relevance to the area and 
preserve links with local history, identity and character.  

 

2.1.3. If appropriate, on receipt of acceptance of a name or names from the ward 
member, town or parish council, a decision is made by the Building Control 
Manager. In the event of a developer and the consultees failing to agree a 
road name and negotiation failing to reach an agreed solution, the Council 
must uphold the objection. A report must be prepared as a matter of 
urgency for the Portfolio Holder for Regulatory Services to make a decision. 
The developer/owner has the right of appeal to the Magistrate’s Court against 
the objection. 

 

2.1.4 The procedure to be followed for street naming is: 
 

• Upon receipt of consultation for a Planning Application, Building Control will 
contact Parish/Town Councils, Ward members for suggestions of street 
names. It will be made clear at this point these suggestions will be specific to 

Page 48



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

the planning application and it maybe some time before they are used. 

• Any received suggestions will be electronically stored for use later. 

• Planning permission granted, Building Regulations Approval/Acceptance or 
Initial Notice Acceptance. 

• Letter sent to the developer requesting street name(s), this will include any 
received suggestions from Parish/Town Councils, Ward members. 

• Building Control will then formally consult Parish/Town Councils, Ward 
members on suggestions. The consultation period will be 21  days unless 
extended with the agreement of all parties and notified to us by email. 

•  

• Refusal letter sent to developer/owner if necessary 

• In the event of the developer/owner and the Council failing to reach 
agreement on a road name, the Council must object. The developer/owner 
has the right of appeal to the Magistrates Court against the objection 

• If no objection received from consultees approve road(s) names 

• Following the decision, developers/owners should be notified in writing 
without delay. The numbering of the new development may also be dealt 
with at this time. This will be carried out once official confirmation of the 
post code(s) is received from the Post Office Registration Authority following 
a request from the Building Control Manager. (This will only be carried out 
by the District Council and not the developer/owner) 

• Where developers use a 'Development Name' for marketing purposes, re-
use of that name should be avoided in the final naming schedule. 

• The final stage is to notify essential services and other interested parties of 
the official name and postal numbering of new developments. This list 
includes the following: 
• Royal Mail Address Management, Local Post Office sorting depot 
• Lincolnshire Fire Authority Headquarters and Boston Fire Station 
• Lincolnshire Ambulance Service 
• Lincolnshire Police Authority 
• BT Openreach 
• Anglian Water Authority 
• East Midlands Electricity/Western Power 
• British Gas 
• Internal Council departments i.e. Council Tax, Electoral Registration. 

2.1.5 Following agreement on the name(s) for development the developer/owner will 
be issued with guidelines for the manufacture and installation of new signs. 
The cost of the signs will be borne by the developer/owner. 

 

2.1.6 The developer/owner will agree the number, position and type of sign(s) to be 
installed with SHDC Building Control prior to any installation. The Council’s 
decision on location, design and timing of installation will be final. 

 

2.1.7 The installation of signs will take place when the first property in the relevant 
road/development is occupied. If this is not carried out within 14 days of 
occupation the Council can take any necessary steps to have this done. If it 
becomes necessary for the Council to supply and install any signs, the full cost 
including administrative charges will be recharged to the developer/owner. 

 

2.1.8 Following completion of the final property on the site the developer/owner will 

Page 49



Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         
 

contact SHDC Building Control to arrange an audit of all new signs. Any 
additional or alterations to the signs will be purchased and installed by the 
developer/owner.  

 

2.1.9 Following the audit, any discrepancies found must be rectified within 6 weeks 
from the date of written/email notification. If the work is not completed by this 
time, South Holland District Council reserves the right to undertake the works 
and pass on any costs to the developer.  

  
 

3. STREET NUMBERING (NEW DEVELOPMENTS) PROCEDURE 
 

3.1.1 The following procedure for numbering properties will affect all new 
developments that will require a postal address. 

 

3.1.2 Main roads should be numbered so that when traveling away from the centre of 
town the odd numbers are on the left hand side and even numbers on the right. 
Succeeding numbers should be approximately opposite one another; even 
though this may mean the omission of certain numbers where frontages vary. 
(Suffix letters may be used in such cases as an alternative). Side roads should 
be numbered in ascending order from the main road, either consecutively or 
odds and evens as appropriate to the layout. 

 

3.1.3 Where a new development consists of 3 or more properties and delivery points 
cannot be accessed directly from the existing street, the creation of a new street 
and the associated name will be considered. Where the development is less 
than 3 new dwellings, suffixes will be used to maintain the numbering 
sequence. 

 

3.1.4 The postal authorities (i.e. the Royal Mail Postcode Centre) can be consulted 
on numbering pedestrian type layouts and other complex urban developments. 

 

3.1.5 In small groups of low rise flats, dwellings should be numbered within the 
ordinary street numbering system, but in tall blocks of flats each flat should be 
numbered so that the number indicates the floor level. The numbers of the flats 
contained in each block should also appear at the entrance to the block in a 
position clearly readable from the roadside. 

 

3.1.6 All houses, offices, business establishments and other premises should be 
numbered, preferably with numerals of a minimum size of 62.5mm, and their 
numbers should be displayed so as to be in a clearly readable position facing 
the road. Mounting may be on gates, gate posts, doors or walls as appropriate, 
but ensuring that there is a good colour contrast between the numerals and the 
background to which they are fixed. 

 

3.1.7 When considered appropriate a scheme of numbering will be prepared and 
implemented. A numbering scheme will be used in all cases except in 
exceptional circumstances i.e.: no numbering scheme currently in place for 
existing surrounding properties where to number would not assist in any future 
renumbering scheme. No existing logical numbering pattern to follow. 

Page 50



 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         

 

3.1.8 It will be the responsibility of the developer/builder to supply all necessary 
information/plans to enable a suitable scheme to be prepared 

 

3.1.9 If deemed necessary letters are sent/delivered to the occupiers of the dwellings 
by the developer as soon as possible to assist future occupiers of their postal 
address. 

 

3.1.10 Notifications and copies of the scheme are sent to the statutory bodies (as 
specified in 8.2.4 above). 

 

3.1.11 After a reasonable period, the scheme may be surveyed to ascertain the level 
of implementation. 

 

3.1.12 If a survey is carried out reminders are sent to those occupiers not complying 
with the scheme. 

 

3.1.13 If reminders fail to achieve compliance direct action can be taken through the 
Magistrate's Court. 

4. EXISTING STREET NAMING AND/OR NUMBERING PROCEDURE 
 

4.1.1. There are occasions where existing naming and or numbering is found to be 
unsatisfactory and changes need to be made. Complaints come from many 
sources and all should be properly investigated before deciding on a course 
of action. 

 

4.1.2. If the council feels it appropriate that renaming/numbering/renumbering is 
required, the essential services should first be consulted and proposals agreed. 

 

4.1.3. It is then necessary to seek consent from two thirds in number of the ratepayers 
in the street. 

 

4.1.4. Following the expiry of 28 days, a decision is reached taking into account 
objections and other observations received. 

 

4.1.5. A report will be prepared with recommendations for the Regulatory Portfolio 
Holder to make the necessary decision. 

 

4.1.6. Once a decision has been made and has not been called in for scrutiny a 
scheme will be prepared and implemented. 

 

4.1.7. A letter of notification will be sent to all relevant parties informing them that the 
new naming/numbering scheme will be implemented in 6 month’s time from 
date of the letter. 

 

4.1.8. Four weeks prior to implementation a further letter will be sent to all parties 
reminding them of the pending change-over, stating that they will use their new 
official street name/number from given date and all new signs to be placed on 
their property as per the schedule. 

 

4.1.9. Where necessary all new street signs will be purchased and installed by South 

Page 51



 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         

Holland Council on the day of change-over. 
 

4.1.10. Notification will be provided to all relevant parties giving details of the 
scheme including statutory bodies. 

 

4.1.11. A survey may be carried out after a period of 28 days to ascertain the level of 
implementation. 

 

4.1.12. Where necessary a communication will be sent to occupiers not complying 
with the scheme of their legal duty to do so. 

 

4.1.13. The renaming and/or renumbering of existing streets and buildings is 
normally only considered when changes occur which give rise or are likely to 
give rise to problems for the occupiers, Post office or Emergency Services. 

 

4.1.14. If notification of difficulties has been received from one of the following 
major stakeholders i.e. Emergency Services, Post Office, the 
implementation of a renaming/numbering/renumbering exercise will be 
undertaken within a shorter timescale due to the serious nature of these 
concerns. This will entail reduction of implementation from 6 months to 3 
months.. 

 

5.NAMING STREETS AND BUILDINGS PROCEDURE 
 

5.1.1. New street names should not duplicate any similar sounding or looking name 
already in use in the town, village or Postal District. A variation in the terminal 
word, i.e. ‘street’, ‘road’, ‘avenue’, ‘drove’, etc will not be accepted as sufficient 
reason to duplicate a name. 

 

5.1.2. It is important to both the Royal Mail and the Emergency Services to avoid 
giving streets similar names within the same locality. The close juxtaposition of 
similar names such as Riverside, River Bank, Riverside Park and River Lane in 
the same area has proved to be a particular source of difficulty. A great variety 
of “999” calls are received each day and some callers can be vague in the 
details they give. Where names are duplicated it can be extremely difficult to 
pinpoint an exact location in order to enable emergency services to attend in 
the time allowed. Duplication of any existing street name within the District is to 
be avoided. 

 

5.1.3. Street names should not be difficult to pronounce or awkward to spell. In 
general, words of more than three syllables should be avoided and this 
precludes the use of two words except in special cases.’ 

 

5.1.4. Subsidiary names (e.g. a row of buildings within an already named road being 
called ’… . terrace’) should not be used. 

 

5.1.5. All new street names should end with one of the following suffixes:- 
 

Major Roads 

Street 

Page 52



 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         

Way 
Road 
Avenue (If to be tree-lined) 

 

Residential Roads 

Gate (South Holland’s oldest road name) 
Drive 
Grove 
Lane (if narrow) 
Drove 
Gardens (subject to there being no confusion with any local open space) 
Place 
Bank (if appropriate) 
 
 
 

 

 

Towns/Villages 

Road 
Street 
Gate 
Avenue 
Lane 
Court – for cul-de-sac or similar roads 

 
 

Crescent – for a crescent shaped road 
Close – for cul-de-sac or similar roads 
Square – for a square only surrounded by buildings 
Hill – hillside roads only 
Circus – for a large roundabout 
Terrace – Urban, for a terrace of houses (provided it is not a subsidiary name) 
Row – Village, for a terrace of houses (provided it is not a subsidiary name) 
Market – If market intended or historic use 
Vale ) 
Dene ) for residents roads only for exceptional use 
Mead ) 
Rise ) 

 
Pedestrian Ways 

Path 
Passage 
Lane 
Walk 

Blocks 

Court 
House 
Chambers 

Page 53



 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         

 

Non acceptable suffixes: 

End ) 
Cross ) 
Side ) 
View ) All these words can of course be incorporated in 
Wharf ) a street name provided it terminates with an 
Walk ) appropriate suffix (e.g. Riverside Path) 
Park ) 
Meadow ) 
Grove ) 

 

Exceptions: Single or dual names without suffixes in appropriate places (e.g. 
Broadgate – for major roads only). 
 
 
 
 

• All new pedestrian ways should end with one of the following suffixes:- 
Walk 
Path 
Way 

 

• All new block names should end with one of the following suffixes: 
House Court – residential only 
Point – high block residential only 
Tower – high block offices or residential 
 

• For private houses it is sufficient that the name should not repeat the 
name of the road or that of any house or building in the relevant town, 
village or postcode area. 
 

• Under exceptional circumstances, a duplicated new property name can 
be allowed provided that it is within the curtilage of the existing building 
with the same name. That is, it does not cause confusion with another 
property outside of that curtilage. 

 

• Avoid aesthetically unsuitable names such as Gasworks Road, Tip 
House, Coal Pit Lane, or names capable of deliberate misinterpretation 
like Tipple Avenue, Swag House etc. 

 

5.1.6 If the owners of a property that currently uses a number wish to use a name, 
this is acceptable as long as the number is retained. Under no circumstances 
will a number be removed and replaced with a name. 

 

6.DESIGN/LAYOUT 
 

6.1.1. The design and installation of road signage should be in accordance with that 
specified within Department of Transport circular 3/93. 

 

Page 54



 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         

6.1.2. All new road signage within the District leading to a dead-end will have a NO 
THROUGH ROUTE symbol included within the sign (on leg) to indicate this. 

 

6.1.3. All new and replacement signs when installed within Conservation areas will be 
in keeping with the area i.e. cast type. 

 

6.1.4. In accordance with the Public Health Act 1925 and Department of Transport 
circular 3/93 the Council has the right to install signs on private properties or 
business walls etc. in the interest of public safety. There is no legal obligation 
to notify owners, but it is likely to cause ill will if this is not done. In the interests 
of good relations, the Council will attempt to notify owners/occupants of the 
affected part of the property prior to installation. 
 

6.1.5. The design of all new signs within the District will be 150mm plate white 
lettering on Mid Brunswick Green background. A 100mm actual capital letter 
height of lettering is the required Standard. (Exceptions to this may be 
allowed within the conservation areas to keep signage in character with the 
original design but only by agreement with Council). 

6.1.6. The spacing of letters must give good legibility having regard to the letter 
form used. Spacing should be sufficient to prevent letters having a jumbled 
appearance when viewed from an oblique angle. The apparent area 
between successive letters should be as uniform as possible and this is 
affected by the shape of individual letters: vertical strokes found in B, D, E, 
etc. are those which need to be farthest apart; curves in B, C, D, G, etc. permit 
a slight decrease in spacing; right angled letters E, F, L, etc. and sloping 
ones, A, K, V, etc. can be closer still; some combinations such as LT, LY and 
VA can almost overlap. 

 

7. THE INSTALLATION OF STREET NAME PLATES 
 

7.1.1. Street name plates should be fixed as near as possible to street corners, so as 
to be easily readable by drivers as well as pedestrians. The name plate should 
normally be within 3 metres of the intersection of the kerb lines, but where this 
is not practicable the distance may be varied up to a maximum of 6 metres. 

 
7.1.2. Street name plates should be mounted so that the upper edge of the plate is 

no more than 900mm above the ground at sites where they are unlikely to be 
obscured by pedestrians or vehicles and at approximately 2.5 metres where 
they are likely to be obscured. They should never be lower than 0.6 metres or 
higher than 3.6 metres. In conservation areas where cast signs are to be 
installed, consideration should be given to position and height and 
discussion with the Council is recommended. 

 

7.1.3. Name plates should normally be fixed at each street corner. At minor 
crossroads, particularly in residential areas, one plate on each side of the street 
positioned on the offside of traffic emerging from the road may be sufficient, 
except where the road name changes or where it is thought that paragraph 
8.7.8 would apply.  At major crossroads, name plates will be necessary on both 
sides of each arm. 

 

Page 55



 
 

Street Naming and Numbering Policy 
Version 2.0 
03/09/2021 & Minor change to procedure (Section 2.1.4)  03/09/2023                         

7.1.4. At T-junctions a main street name plate should be placed directly opposite the 
traffic approaching from the side road. 

 

7.1.5. Where the street name changes at a point other than cross-roads both names 
should be displayed at the point of change to include arrows to indicate clearly 
to which parts of the street the names refer. 

 

7.1.6. On straight lengths of road without intersections name plates should be 
repeated at reasonable intervals with priority given to such places as bus and 
railway stations and opposite entrances to often frequented sites such as car 
parks. 

 

7.1.7. Where two streets branch off obliquely from a common junction with a third 
street, plates on fingerpost mountings can be useful, provided they do not 
obscure any traffic sign. 

 

7.1.8. Where it might reasonably be expected, for example at intervals on long straight 
lengths of road or at intersections or T-junctions, the name plate could 
incorporate information indicating the street numbers on either side of the 
intersection. 

 

 
7.1.9. Whenever practical, street name plates should be mounted on walls, buildings 

or other boundary structures at the back edge of the footway. Post mounting or 
finger mounting should only be used where normal mounting does not make the 
plate conspicuous (e.g. where an important side road has a narrow entrance or 
in the exceptional circumstances mentioned in paragraph 8.7.7 above or where 
it will frequently be obscured by pedestrian movement and cannot be mounted 
at the 2.5 metre height). 

 

7.1.10. The name plates should be fixed so that there is a clear space of at least 
300mm in every direction between them and any notices, advertisements or 
other printed or written matter. Wherever possible a greater clearance should 
be provided. Nor should they be incorporated in other direction sign 
assemblies, but be kept distinct and mounted in as standardised a manner as 
possible. Care should be taken to keep the view of name plates free from 
obstruction by trees and other growth. 

 
 

7.1.11. Where possible, name plates should be fixed so that they will be 
illuminated by light from street lamps, especially at important junctions, 
provided they remain visible to vehicles on the main carriageway. 

 
 

 

Page 56



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder – Assets & Planning  
Portfolio Holder – HRA & Private Sector Housing 
Christine Marshall, Executive Director – Strategy & Resource  

 
To: Policy Development Panel – 21st September 2021 

Cabinet – 26th October 2021 
Council – 24th November 2021 
 

Author: Caroline Hannon Head of Delivery 
 
Subject HRA Housing Delivery Framework   
 
Purpose: To introduce a HRA Housing Delivery Framework to inform future investment 

decisions for the HRA Capital Programme relating to housing development. 
 

Recommendation(s):  
 
1. That Council approves the HRA Housing Delivery Framework, at Appendix A to this report, 

which informs and guides future Executive decisions for the HRA Capital Programme for 
housing development. 

 
2. That the HRA Housing Delivery Framework be included as a local choice policy in the Council’s 

Policy Framework and that the Constitution, at Article 4.3, be amended accordingly. 
 

3. That the Executive Director – Strategy & Resource (the S.151 Officer) be granted delegated 
authority, in consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to negotiate, approve, enter into 
and sign grant agreements relating to grant allocations which have been approved by Council, 
Cabinet or Portfolio Holder relating to the delivery of homes for the HRA.   

 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
1.1 SHDC has committed to the delivery 157 new homes since 2017.   

 
1.2 At Council on 23rd September 2020, it was agreed to add two additional Housing 

Development Project Managers to the establishment to support the authority’s continued 
growth ambitions and to enable the authority to explore a wider range of delivery 
opportunities for both the HRA and SHDC’s housing companies.  The additional Project 
Managers have been in post since February 2021. 
 

1.3 The delivery of further new homes for the HRA will enable the authority to continue to meet 
the needs of residents and replace homes lost through Right to Buy sales.  

 
1.4 With the likelihood of new schemes being identified and considered in the near future, it is 

appropriate to agree a policy framework to support decisions against a budget set and agreed 
by Council.   

 
1.5 The 2021/22 HRA Capital Programme was approved by Council in March 2021. £4,706,000 

was allocated for ‘Housing development schemes subject to detailed approval’ (known as the 
‘HRA Development budget’).  This provides resources for schemes which have not yet been 
identified or approved. 
 

Page 57

Agenda Item 10.



1.6 It is commonplace for large capital budgets, approved by Full Council, to have a 
corresponding policy framework which sets the remit for spend by the authority’s Executive. 
Until now, such a framework has not existed for the HRA development budget. This report 
seeks to establish a framework within which executive decisions will be made to utilise the 
agreed HRA Development budget. Any proposals that fall outside of this framework will 
require Council approval.  
 

1.7 This HRA Housing Delivery Framework is not relevant to General Fund housing development 
activity, and is only intended to provide a framework for HRA development activity with the 
approved HRA Development budget.  Any housing activity related to the General Fund (or 
the authority’s housing companies) will continue to be considered in the usual way. 
 

1.8 This HRA Housing Delivery Framework is being prepared as a first step towards the authority 
adopting a full development/delivery strategy.  A full development/delivery strategy will be 
prepared during 2021/22 and will set out the strategic approach to all of the Council’s 
development activity both for the HRA and non-HRA delivery (including, for example, 
schemes delivered through the authority’s housing companies). The broader 
development/delivery strategy could include expectations around preferred delivery models, 
site regeneration, design standards, expected return on investment, delivery targets and 
procurement approach. 
 

1.9 In the absence of a HRA policy framework, the approach has been to seek Council approval 
for a number of schemes. Once the policy framework is established, decisions to pursue 
individual projects will be taken by the Executive in accordance with the framework and based 
on a robust business case. Such decisions will be subject to member call-in. If the Executive 
wanted to pursue any scheme which is outside of the remit of the framework, then Full 
Council would be the decision-making body for such decisions.    

  
2.0 HRA OPTIONS TO BUILD AND ACQUIRE NEW HOMES 
 
2.1 There are a range of different housing delivery models which could be explored for the HRA.  

These come with a range of different advantages, risks and financial benefits.  The HRA 
Housing Delivery Framework proposes that any of the delivery models could be explored for 
the HRA, and identifies the appropriate decision-making authority for each model. The 
paragraphs below provide a summary of the nature of each model.   

 
a) S106 Affordable Housing acquisitions 

The Local Plan requires an element of Affordable Housing to be provided on appropriate 
housing development sites. Planning Committee approves applications and indicates the 
appropriate level of Affordable Housing for each consented scheme. The necessary 
affordable housing dwellings are obliged to be provided by the developer by virtue of a 
contract known as a ‘S106 agreement’. The S106 affordable dwellings are only able to be 
provided as affordable tenures and accordingly their open market value is constrained.  
Affordable Housing providers can usually purchase these completed dwellings at less than 
the value of equivalent market dwellings.  The housing need for these homes, and the 
appropriate mix and tenure will have been established as part of the drafting of the S106 
agreement.  However, the specification will be determined by the developer and the authority 
will have little influence on the specification of the units if it becomes the affordable housing 
provider. The contractual arrangements for this type of acquisition are that the authority 
would only be obliged to buy the homes once satisfied that the dwellings have been 
constructed to a satisfactory, agreed standard.  
 

b) Design and Build projects on SHDC land 
These projects provide more freedom for the authority to control all aspects of the housing 
scheme. The authority would devise the scheme and influence the layout, tenure mix, 

Page 58



property types, property specification and construction method.  The authority would appoint 
and manage professional services such as architects and contractors to design and build the 
preferred scheme in accordance with the public procurement rules. Design and build 
schemes are more intensive in terms of internal project management and contractual 
responsibilities which can increase risk. Additionally, they can take longer to come to fruition. 
However, these projects can provide a greater level of return for the authority than an 
acquisitions project and Government grant funding can be sought and invested into such 
projects. 
 

c) Open market new-build dwelling acquisitions 
The authority can seek to negotiate with developers to acquire completed dwellings which 
would otherwise be sold on the open market.  The dwellings can then be used to provide 
affordable homes. A bulk purchase of market dwellings may be available for a discount on 
marketing values but this would be more than the cost of equivalent designated S106 
affordable homes. The contractual arrangements for this type of acquisition are that the 
authority would only be obliged to buy the homes once satisfied that the dwellings have been 
constructed to a satisfactory, agreed standard. The negotiation to purchase the homes could 
occur at any stage of the build process (including prior to construction commencing or 
following completion). This means that on some sites, the homes could be acquired 
immediately following contracts being exchanged.  The authority is likely to have little control 
over the property specification which is likely to be a higher standard than other affordable 
homes, such as including garages or en-suite bathrooms.  Government grant funding is likely 
to be available to support this type of scheme.  An investment of grant funding would improve 
the return on investment for the authority.   
 

d) Right to Buy buyback properties 
When Council homes are sold to tenants via the Right to Buy the authority retains a right of 
first refusal to buyback the property when the tenant wishes to sell.  The homes are available 
to purchase at full market value. The acquisition of an individual property can be more 
expensive than a bulk purchase because there are no economies of scale for commissioning 
on-costs such as legal expenses and there wouldn’t be a discount on the purchase price as 
there might be for a bulk acquisition.  However, there can be strategic reasons why it may be 
preferable to buyback former Council properties such as if the authority still owns the 
adjoining property or if it could provide access to adjoining developable land. 
 

e) Second-hand property acquisitions from the open market 
Acquisitions would be available at full market value. The costs of acquiring individual 
properties would not provide the economies of scale available for a bulk purchase. Whilst 
there can be appropriate strategic reasons why it may be beneficial to purchase second-
hand properties, such as to meet a specific specialist housing need, generally they may be 
poorer quality than newbuild homes and would not come with a warranty.  However, the 
properties would be easy to identify as they would be advertised for sale and could be 
acquired quickly.  
 

f) Land purchase 
The authority could purchase private land which is suitable for housing delivery.  This would 
allow the authority to deliver more design and build projects.  The land acquisition price is 
likely to be higher for land which is being sold with the benefit of Planning consent for housing 
development.   
 

g) Joint ventures  
The authority could enter into a joint venture with another entity to deliver housing.  This could 
leverage long-term investment from the private sector into development projects or the 
authority could benefit from private sector assets/expertise.  The basic premise of the model 
could be that the authority would enter into a partnership with a private body. The council 

Page 59



could transfer property assets into a new joint venture company, with the JV partner (likely 
to be a developer/RP) matching the value of the portfolio. The partnership uses these joint 
assets as collateral to raise finance for regeneration or development projects. Development 
profits are then split appropriately between the parties. The benefit is that it allows equal 
control over the development and an appropriate balance of risk and reward.  It can also 
enable the authority to access skills and experience that it may not have in house. The 
establishment of a joint venture can take some time and therefore it would be unlikely to 
deliver new homes in the short-term. There would be costs associated with establishing a 
joint venture company and the process can be resource intensive and would require a full 
procurement process. 
 

2.2 The HRA Housing Delivery Framework also provides a number of key considerations/guiding 
principles for any future schemes including: 
 
a) Tenure mix 
b) Property mix 
c) Specification 
d) Location 
e) Range of development partners 
f) Building Control inspections 

 
2.3 A proposed HRA Housing Delivery Framework is provided at Appendix A.  The Framework 

sets out those delivery models which it is proposed should be pursued for the HRA utilising 
the approved HRA Capital Programme for schemes subject to detailed Executive approval. 
Any scheme identified which meets the criteria of the HRA Housing Delivery Framework 
would be approved by the Executive on the strength of a detailed business case. Any scheme 
which does not meet the criteria would require Council approval. 

 
2.4 A number of the housing delivery models included in the framework can deliver housing 

schemes which could potentially be subsidised by external funding such as from the Homes 
England Affordable Housing Programme. External funding can improve the viability of 
schemes and provide a better return for SHDC’s investment. Currently, Council amends 
budgets and approves any decision which will have a material impact on a budget, in 
accordance with Financial Procedure Rule 3.8(h). This report proposes that the Executive 
Director – Strategy & Resource (the S.151 Officer) be granted delegated authority, in 
consultation with the relevant Portfolio Holder, to accept grant allocations relating to the 
delivery of HRA homes within the scope of the policy framework, where there is no material 
impact on the Council budget.   

 
3.0 OPTIONS 

 
a) That Council adopts a HRA Housing Delivery Framework to inform and guide future 

investment decisions relating to the HRA Capital Programme Housing Development 
budget. This allows Council to determine the approach to approving future housing 
schemes.  This option is recommended.    
 

b) Do nothing.  In this event, there would be no certainty around the preferred approach to 
delivering new housing schemes. This could delay schemes being approved. The 
Executive would continue to approve Business Cases for individual schemes without a 
Framework being in place to guide such decisions.   

 
4.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 
a) To identify the preferred nature of schemes for future investment. 
b) To ensure that investment decisions are made which adhere to the framework. 

Page 60



c) To clarify that schemes which are outside of the remit of the framework will only be 
pursued if they have been referred to, and approved by, Council. 

d) To provide a framework within which the Executive can approve the delivery of HRA 
housing projects. 

 
5.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
5.1 The adoption of a HRA Housing Delivery Framework is intended to provide a range of 

benefits including: 
a) It provides an approved policy framework to sit alongside the approved HRA Capital 

Programme for new housing. 
b) It will create certainty and fill a constitutional vacuum where currently there is no policy 

framework to guide decisions. Decisions will be made in accordance with the law with 
the Executive having the authority to spend the approved budget. 

c) It defines the nature of schemes which can be approved by the Executive relating to 
future development activity.  

d) It allows Council to set criteria for how the capital programme budget is allocated.  
e) It enables the Executive to approve housing schemes which meet agreed criteria. 
f) It enables the authority to act more commercially and to make investment decisions 

in line with the law and within an agreed criteria, in a timely manner.   
 

6.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 

6.1 Constitutional & Legal 
6.1.1 Council will continue to set the HRA Development budget annually. The adoption of a HRA 

Housing Delivery Framework will establish the parameters for how the budget is spent. This 
will be reflected in the Council’s Constitution and in particular, Article 4 (Policy Framework). 
 

6.1.2 Under Standing Order 25, the Cabinet is responsible for making recommendations to the 
Council in respect of changes to the Policy Framework. Prior to making such 
recommendations, the Policy Development Panel must be consulted. If the Council objects 
to any change to the Policy Framework proposed by the Cabinet, it must refer the matter 
back to Cabinet for further consideration and it must consider the response of the Cabinet 
before making any final decision on the proposed changes. 

 
6.1.3 A detailed business case will be prepared for any new housing scheme.  The Executive 

already has responsibility for approving individual business cases. 
 

6.1.4 The Constitution allows Cabinet or a Portfolio Holder to make decisions to accept grant 
allocations, in excess of £100,000, where the Executive Director – Strategy & Resource (the 
S.151 Officer) certifies that the grant does not have a material impact on the Council budget. 
This is relevant to any grant allocation.  However, for the avoidance of doubt, the delegation 
at Recommendation 3 of this policy framework only relates to grants allocated to enable the 
delivery of homes for the HRA. 

 
6.2 Corporate Priorities 
6.2.1 The SHDC Corporate Plan 2019-23 sets out the Council’s vision for the district and its 

priorities for this period.   

6.2.2 This HRA Housing Delivery Framework will support the agreed vision and priorities of the 
Plan, including:  

• Be a landlord of choice for our council housing tenants. 

• Maintain our commitment to Council Housing by building new council homes to replace 
those that have been lost. 

Page 61



• Providing good-quality housing that everyone in our community can call their home.   

• Applying for national and regional funding to help with local projects. 

• Work to prevent and mitigate homelessness. 

• Enable effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs and 
aspirations to ensure that our residents have access to a range of housing options in the 
district. 

• Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high quality housing no matter the tenure. 

• Deliver substantial and continued growth as proposed through our Local Plan. 

• Proactively work with partners to identify and optimise funding opportunities that will draw 
resources into the district to support our plans for substantial and continued growth 

 
6.3 Financial 
6.3.1 Council will continue to establish the HRA Development budget, each year. 

 
6.3.2 The adoption of a HRA Housing Delivery Framework will identify the parameters for spending 

the HRA Development budget. 
 
6.3.3 Any grant allocations awarded to support the delivery of HRA housing schemes will be 

subject to terms and conditions. Regardless of who approves and accepts any grant 
allocation awarded to the authority, there is a risk that the grant would be repayable in the 
event that the authority is unable to adhere to all of the conditions of grant. If this situation 
were to arise, officers would seek to renegotiate the grant conditions with the funding body 
to seek to enable all or part of the grant to be retained/claimed.   

 
6.3.4 Details of any grants awarded to the authority, in line with Recommendation 3 above, will be 

reflected in subsequent finance reports presented to Council.   
 
6.4 Risk Management 
6.4.1 The development process comes with inherent risk. Certain types of development activity 

come with greater levels of risk. 
 

6.4.2 All funding decisions will be based on a robust business case to ensure that development 
risks are managed and mitigated. 
 

6.4.3 Where possible, Building Control inspections will be undertaken by SHDC Building Control 
officers during the construction phase to provide an additional layer of certainty around the 
quality of the product. 
 

6.5 Staffing 
6.5.1 Additional staffing resources have been brought into the establishment to support the delivery 

of a HRA housing delivery programme based on a range of delivery methods as set out in 
the HRA Housing Delivery Framework. 

 
6.6 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 
6.6.1 Housing Development Officers will continue to liaise with Government bodies to attract grant 

funding into the district. 
 

6.6.2 Housing Development Officers will continue to liaise with developers, land owners and agents 
to promote SHDC’s delivery objectives. 

 
6.6.3 The Constitution already provides for the Executive to approve business cases for new 

housing schemes. 
 

Page 62



6.6.4 The HRA Housing Delivery Framework will apply to all new housing schemes being 
considered for funding from the HRA Development budget (for 2021/22 and subsequent 
years) from the date Council approves the policy framework. 
 

7.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
All 
 

8.0 ACRONYMS 
HRA – Housing Revenue Account 

 
9.0 APPENDICES 

Appendix A – HRA Housing Delivery Framework 
  

Page 63



Appendix A 
South Holland District Council Housing Revenue Account Housing Delivery Framework 

 

This framework identifies potential housing delivery models and the appropriate decision-making 

authority for future investment decisions. 

 

This framework relates to any investment decisions utilising the HRA Capital Programme budget for 

Housing Development – schemes subject to detailed approval. The HRA Housing Delivery 

Framework will apply to all new housing schemes being considered for funding from the HRA 

Development budget (for 2021/22 and subsequent years) from the date Council approves the policy 

framework until such time as the Framework is amended or replaced. 

 

Government grant allocations will also be utilised, where available, to improve the viability of 

schemes and provide a better return for SHDC’s investment. The S151 Officer has delegated 

authority to approve grant allocations which will support the delivery of new affordable homes and 

have no material impact on the budget. 

 

Scheme approval, including the allocation of funds within the approved HRA Capital Programme for 

housing development, will be in accordance with the following criteria. 

 

Housing Delivery Models 

 

Except in a case where the Full Council has given specific approval to a scheme that falls outside of 

this Framework, any individual scheme approved by the Executive shall have an anticipated cost of 

less than £2 Million and shall comprise one or more of the following models:   

 

S106 affordable housing – The purchase of completed affordable homes delivered by a 

developer or developers pursuant to the terms of an agreement under s106 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990. 

 

Design and Build projects on SHDC land – The development of properties on sites already 

in SHDC’s ownership, following consideration of a feasibility study prepared for that purpose. 

 

Open market new-build dwelling acquisitions – The purchase of open market new-build 

dwellings where the business case evidences that those properties will address an identified 

housing need. 

 

Right to Buy ‘RTB’ buybacks – The purchase of former Council properties that have been 

sold under RTB, where there is considered to be an unmet housing need or a strategic reason 

for the acquisition (such as to provide access to an adjoining potential housing development 

site). 

 

Second-hand property acquisitions from the open market – The purchase of second-

hand open market properties where there is considered to be an unmet housing need or a 

strategic reason for the acquisition (such as to provide access to an adjoining potential 

housing development site). 

 

Page 64



Land purchase for design and build projects – The purchase of land which is deemed 

suitable for the delivery of new homes. 

 

‘De Minimis’ development or acquisition activity - Any development or acquisition activity 

not exceeding £250,000 for any individual scheme. Examples of such ‘De Minimis’ activity 

include minor activity which might be necessary to support potential housing sites to 

progress; the purchase of small parcels of land (such a grass verges, access points, private 

gardens, garage plots) to improve the nature of potential housing sites; and the purchase of 

individual properties where there is considered to be an unmet housing need or a strategic 

reason for the acquisition (such as to provide access to an adjoining potential housing 

development site).     

 

Property requirements 

 

The following property requirements will apply to any schemes to be approved. 

 

Tenure – The scheme will provide homes which are an appropriate tenure as evidenced by 

local housing need data. The tenure could include Affordable Rent, Social Rent, temporary 

accommodation, Shared Ownership or any other affordable tenure as defined in National 

Planning Policy Framework, or equivalent.   

 

Property type – Schemes will provide appropriate property type(s) as evidenced by local 

housing need data. Property types could include a house, flat, bungalow or specialist housing 

unit. 

 

Location – New homes will be provided in appropriate locations serviced by local amenities. 

  

Specification/Quality – The specification of any new homes approved will ensure that 

quality housing is provided which enhances SHDC’s stock portfolio and supports the 

authority’s ambition to be a landlord of choice. The acquisition of a second-hand properties 

will be informed by appropriate property surveys.  

 

Range of local building firms – The authority will publish this HRA Housing Delivery 

Framework to make the authority’s delivery objectives clear to all building firms. This will 

provide all developers with an equal opportunity to approach SHDC to discuss appropriate 

opportunities for delivery.  The authority will seek to ensure, as far as possible, that it supports 

as many local builders as possible. Public procurement rules will apply in accordance with 

the law and SHDC constitution. 

 

Building Control – New homes delivered will be inspected by the Council’s Building Control 

officers unless there is a specific reason for delivering homes which have instead been 

inspected by an approved assessor. This could include delivery of homes which meet an 

unmet housing need but at the point of entering into contract with the developer, the building 

inspections have already been undertaken by an approved assessor.  

 

Housing delivery models outside of this framework 

Any HRA housing delivery project which does not meet the criteria set out above shall require 

Council approval. 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Assistant Director Housing, Jason King 

  

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 21 September 2021  

 

(Author: Jason King , Assistant Director Housing) 

 

Subject SHDC Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Licensing and Fee Policy 

 

Purpose: To seek feedback on the proposed Mobile Homes and Caravan site licencing 

and the proposed introduction of a fee-charging structure for eligible 

administration connected with the policy.  

 

 
Recommendation(s): 
 
1) That the Policy Development Panel review and provide feedback on the proposed policy. 

 
2) That the Policy Development Panel provide any recommendations for changes or 

amendments to the policy.  
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 Under the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Action 1960 (the 1960 Act) South 

Holland District Council (SHDC) issues site licences for caravan park homes that have 

relevant planning permission. The legislation has been amended by the Mobile Homes Act 

2013 (the 2013 Act) which aims to raise standards in the industry. This also provides for 

enforcement that is more effective when site licence holders fail to comply with their licence 

obligations. The 2013 Act also introduces some important changes to buying, selling or 

gifting of a park home and the pitch fee review process. 

 

1.2 The changes relating to site licencing came into force on 1 April 2014. Licences issued 

under the 1960 Act still remain in force, but the new enforcement powers apply and Local 

Authorities enabling them to charge fees for functions relating to ‘relevant protected sites’. 

Following the implementation of the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be 

Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 and setting of a fee for inclusion in Fit 

and Proper Person Register under the Regulations, the council is proposing the 

introduction of a fee charging structure for the associated administration.  

 

1.3 There are approximately 640 licensed caravans or mobile homes in the South Holland 

District area on over 50 licenced sites.  

 

1.4 A relevant protected site is defined in the Act as any land to be used as a caravan site 

other than one where the application for a licence is: 

• For holiday use only, or 

• Subject to restrictions or conditions, which limit the times of the year when the 

site may be used for stationing caravans for human habitation.  

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 11.



1.5 Relevant protected sites to which the legislation applies are typically known as residential 

parks, mobile home parks, park home sites and Gypsy and Traveller sites. Other sites, 

which are not relevant protected sites, are still subject to licencing under the 1960 Act, but 

no fee is required to be paid.  

 

1.6 Before a Local Authority can charge a fee, it must prepare and publish a fees policy. When 

fixing a fee, the Local Authority:  

• Must act in accordance with its fees policy 

• May fix different fees in different cases 

• May determine that no fee is required in some cases. 

 

1.7 Any fees charged must fairly cover the costs (or part of the costs) incurred by the Local 

Authority in performing its function under Part 1 of the 2013 Act (excluding the costs of 

enforcement action or any functions relating to prohibiting caravans on commons or 

provision of sites by the Local Authority itself). In setting its fees policy and the fees to be 

charged, SHDC has had regard to the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government guidance for setting licencing fees. Under the 2013 Act SHDC can charge for: 

• The issuing of the first site licence 

• Generic fees for all sites for the issuing of the licence 

• Annual renewal: monitoring and administration of existing site licences 

• The depositing of site rules 

• The transfer of a licence  

• The alteration of a licence (initiated by the site owner)  

• The inclusion of a relevant person to the Fit and Proper Person register. 

 

1.8 Section 10A (5) of the 1960 Act (as amended by the 2013 Act) states that a fees policy 

must include provision about the time at which the annual fee is payable. For the purpose 

of the policy, the period covered by the annual fee will be 1 April to 31 March and will be 

invoiced on the 1 April each year or as soon as practicable after.  

 

1.9 A summary of the fees for each of the processes set out on this policy are shown below. 

These are broken down fully in the appendix of the Mobile Homes and Caravan Site and 

licencing Fee Policy, which is attached to this report.   

  

Fee type Fee 

Application fee for a new site licence £300.89 + £6.62 per pitch 

Annual inspection fee £115.51 + £6.62 per pitch 

Amendment to a licence £142.93 

Transfer of a licence £83.94 

Depositing of site rules with Local Authority £81.70 

Application for Fit and Proper Person register £249.99 

Enforcement costs £56 / hour 
 

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Option 1- Review the proposed content of the Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Licencing 

and Fee Policy. Provide any feedback to amend or shape the proposed policy. 

Recommended.  

Page 68



2.2 Option 2- Do nothing; do not provide feedback or recommendations for consideration in 

development of this policy. Not recommended.  

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 The Council seeks to recover its costs in administering the new regulations, introducing 

statutory requirements for all residential mobile home site owners or their appointed 

manager to apply for and be deemed a Fit and Proper person. The Council is required to 

maintain a mandatory register held under the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of 

site to be a Fit and Proper Person.) (England) Regulations 2020. Entitlement to charge an 

administration fee on cost recovery basis is also embedded within this.  

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 It is expected that the Council will recover its full administrative costs in all matters relating 

to relevant site licences and the appointment of Fit and Proper persons. The fee charging 

structure will enable the Council to generate an income stream from all relevant sites.  

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 Financial 

5.1.1 Administration of this legislation and the associated requirements will be delivered through 

existing resources within the Private Sector Housing Team. The ability to recover the 

Councils cost in administration of providing this element of the service will contribute to the 

overall cost of providing this service.   

 

5.2 Staffing 

5.2.1 It is not proposed to increase the exisiting establishment posts within the Private Sector 

Housing Team. It is anticipated that the relatively minor number of applicable applications 

will be administered through existing resources.  

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All wards.  

 

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 SHDC- South Holland District Council 

 

 

Background papers:-  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Jason King, Assistant Director Housing  

Telephone Number  

Email: JasonKing@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

Page 69



 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Mobile Homes and Caravan site licencing and Fee policy.  

 

Page 70



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

MOBILE HOMES AND CARAVAN 

SITE LICENSING AND FEE POLICY 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Date of issue – August 2021 

Page 71



2 
 

 

CONTENTS 

1. Introduction         3 

2. Site licensing requirements, fees and charges   4 

3. Licensing conditions, inspections and enforcement  6 

4. Site Rules         7 

5. Fit and Proper Person fee policy     7 

6. Fees for Fit and Proper Person register applications  9 

7. Appendix 1: Calculation of fees      11 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



3 
 

 

1.0 Introduction 

 

1.1 Under the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960 (the 1960 Act) 

South Holland District Council (SHDC) issues site licences for caravan park 

homes that have relevant planning permission.  This legislation has been 

amended by the Mobile Homes Act 2013 (the 2013 Act) which aims to raise 

standards in the industry and provide for more effective enforcement when 

site licence holders fail to comply with their licence obligations.  The 2013 Act 

also introduces some important changes to the buying, selling or gifting of a 

park home and the pitch fee review process. 

The changes relating to site licensing came into force on 1 April 2014.  

Licences issued under the 1960 Act still remain in force, but the new 

enforcement powers apply and local authorities will be able to charge fees for 

functions relating to “relevant protected sites”. 

There are over 640 licensed caravans or mobile homes in the South Holland 

District on over 50 licensed sites.  

1.2 A relevant protected site is defined in the Act as any land to be used as a 

caravan site other than one where the application for a licence is: 

• For holiday use only, or 

• Subject to restrictions or conditions which limit the times of the year 

 when the site may be used for stationing caravans for human 

 habitation (eg planning conditions). 

 

1.3 Relevant protected sites to which the legislation applies are typically known as 

residential parks, mobile home parks, park home sites and Gypsy and 

Traveller sites.  Other sites which are not relevant protected sites are still 

subject to licensing under the 1960 Act, but no fee is required to be paid. 

This policy does not apply to the following: 

• Sites that are owned by the Local Authority 

• Sites where use  is incidental to a dwelling house within the same 

curtilage 

• Individual permanent residential mobile homes 

• Touring sites 

• Holiday sites 

• Caravans occupied by seasonal workers 

• Sites where caravans are stationed solely for workers employed in 

building or engineering operations on that or adjacent land 

• Sites used by travelling showmen who are members of a relevant 

organisation 

• Sites occupied by organisations holding a certificate of exemption 

 

Page 73



4 
 

1.4 SHDC cannot license a site unless planning permission has been granted.  

The planning authority will be consulted to confirm that the site has planning 

permission for the relevant use. 

 

1.5 SHDC will decide to either licence the site or refuse a licence within 8 weeks 

of receipt of a duly made application.  Where a licence is refused, the 

applicant will be advised of the reasons for refusal and their right of appeal. 

 

1.6 SHDC consider it appropriate to make single pitch sites exempt from annual 

licence fees (but not other fees) as their inspection and fee collection 

arrangements would not be cost effective nor would it add value.  Sites 

which do not fall within the definition of “relevant protected sites” are still 

subject to the licensing requirements contained within the 1960 Act, but the 

provisions relating to payment of fees do not apply. 

 

1.7 This Policy sets out how SHDC will carry out its statutory responsibilities for 

caravan site inspection, licensing and enforcement and fee setting.  

Provision is made for: 
 

• A register of all residential sites whose site rules are deposited with 

SHDC (including a register of sites and a Fit and Proper Person 

register to be made available on SHDC’s website) 

• A site licensing procedure 

• Determination and annual review of site licensing fees and 

enforcement charges 

• Implementation of Model Standards, including the updating of site 

conditions to reflect the Model Standards where necessary (see 

section 3.1 below) 

 

1.8 SHDC will: 

• Clarify expectations regarding the standards to be met by owners of 

 caravan sites within the District 

• Provide advice and assistance to occupiers of mobile homes and 

 caravans to ensure they can live in safe and healthy homes 

• Ensure that any enforcement action taken by SHDC is effective and 

 proportionate 

2.0 Site licensing requirements, fees and charges 

2.1 Before a Local Authority can charge a fee, it must prepare and publish a fees 

 policy.  When fixing a fee, the Local Authority:  

• Must act in accordance with its fees policy 

• May fix different fees in different cases 

• May determine that no fee is required in some cases 

Page 74



5 
 

Any fees charged must fairly cover the costs (or part of the costs) incurred by 

the Local Authority in performing its functions under Part 1 of the 2013 Act 

(excluding the costs of enforcement action or any functions relating to 

prohibiting caravans on commons or provision of sites by the Local Authority 

itself).  In setting its fees policy and the fees to be charged, SHDC has had 

regard to Department for Communities and Local Government guidance 

“Mobile Homes Act 2013: a Guide for Local Authorities on Setting Licensing 

Fees”.  Under the 2013 Act, SHDC can charge for: 

• The issuing of the first site licence 

• Generic fees for all sites for the issuing of the licence 

• Annual renewal: monitoring and administration of existing site licences 

• The depositing of site rules 

• The transfer of a licence 

• The alteration of a licence (initiated by the site owner) 

• The inclusion of a relevant person to the Fit and Proper Person register 

2.2 The fees detailed within this policy have been calculated based on the 

 estimated average time and costs involved in undertaking the following 

 activities; all administrative costs incurred in the licensing process, officer 

 visits to sites, travel costs, consultations, meetings, monitoring of 

 sites/investigation of complaints and the giving of informal advice. 

2.3 Section 10A (5) of the 1960 Act (as amended by the 2013 Act) states that a 

 fees policy must include provision about the time at which the annual fee is 

 payable.  For the purpose of the policy, the period covered by the annual fee 

 will be 1 April to 31 March and will be invoiced on 1 April each year or as 

 soon as practicable after. 

2.4 Fees will be revised annually alongside reviews of SHDC’s other regulatory 

 fees and charges.  Any revisions by SHDC of this fee policy will be published 

 on the website. Any changes will be justifiable and reasonable, ensuring full 

 transparency for the site owners.  The purpose of publishing the fee policy is 

 to show that the fees imposed by the Local Authority are fair and transparent 

 so that anyone required to pay a fee can understand the charges. 

2.5 A summary of the fees for each of the processes set out on this policy are 

 shown below.  Appendix 1 (page 11) details the breakdown of the costs 

 associated with each fee. 

Fee type Fee 

Application fee for a new site licence £300.89 + £6.62 per pitch 

Annual inspection fee £115.51 + £6.62 per pitch 

Amendment to a licence £142.93 

Transfer of a licence £83.94 

Depositing of site rules with Local Authority £81.70 

Application for Fit and Proper Person register £249.99 

Enforcement costs £56 / hour 

Page 75



6 
 

2.6 Fees for a new site licence are based upon a fixed cost plus a charge per 

pitch to reflect the variation in cost of processing the application according to 

the size of the site. 

2.7 All sites must pay an annual fee to SHDC (subject to exemptions).  This fee 

covers the costs associated with administration, annual inspection and a 

revisit to ensure compliance where required.  The annual fee is based upon a 

fixed cost plus a charge per pitch to reflect the variation in the cost of 

processing the licence renewal according to the size of the site. 

2.8 Where the licence holder requests an amendment to site licence conditions, 

SHDC will charge a fee.  Where SHDC instigates a change in conditions, no 

fee will be payable. 

2.9 Where the licence holder wishes to transfer a licence, an application must be 

made to SHDC for which a fee is payable.  The fee for the transfer of a site 

licence is based on a fixed cost as generally no site visit is required. 

2.10 Single unit sites where the operator is also the owner and occupier of the park 

home will be exempt from annual fees. 

3.0  Licensing conditions, inspections and enforcement 

3.1 SHDC’s responsibility for the licensing of caravan sites includes the 

application and enforcement of appropriate conditions.  The specific purposes 

for which conditions can be applied are set out in Section 5 of the 1960 Act.  

Site licence conditions may be determined with reference to national Model 

Standards.  SHDC has the power to update site licence conditions in line with 

Model Standards as modified from time to time by the Government.  The aim 

of such standards is to promote the safety and welfare of the residents.  The 

applicable Model Standards were issued in 1983 for touring sites, 1989 for 

holiday sites and 2008 for residential sites.  The Model Standards can be 

viewed on the SHDC website. 

3.2 SHDC will carry out scheduled inspections of all licensed sites, which are 

likely to be without notice.  Site owners will be advised of any actions required 

to ensure compliance with the site licence conditions. 

3.3 The main focus of enforcement activity will be informal advice and education, 

including the provision of information remotely or in person.  Formal 

enforcement action will be taken under the relevant legislation only when an 

informal action has failed to secure an acceptable improvement in standards 

or compliance with licence conditions.  Any use of enforcement powers will be 

in accordance with the South Holland District Council Corporate Enforcement 

Policy. 

3.4 Section 9A of the 1960 Act (as amended by the 2013 Act) allows local 

authorities to serve compliance notices on site owners where a site licence 

Page 76



7 
 

condition is breached.  These notices will set out what the site owner needs to 

do to correct the breaches within prescribed timescales.  Service of a notice 

will attract a charge.  Failure to comply wit the notice would be a criminal 

offence and the Local Authority may consider taking legal proceedings.  Any 

costs associated with this process would be at the discretion of the court. 

Following a successful prosecution for breaching a compliance notice, SHDC 

would be able to serve notice to enter the site and carry out the necessary 

works themselves (known as “works in default”). 

3.5 In addition, Section 9E allows a notice to be served on site owners enabling 

the Local Authority to enter the site and take emergency action where there is 

an imminent risk of serious harm. 

3.6 Enforcement charges will be based on an hourly rate reflecting the costs of 

enforcement, plus any additional costs incurred (eg legal costs).  Site owners 

may not pass on enforcement charges to residents in their pitch fees. 

4.0 Site Rules 

4.1 Site rules are different to site licence conditions in that they are neither 

created nor enforced by local authorities.  They are a set of rules created by 

the site owner for residents to comply with.  They may reflect the site licence 

conditions but will also cover matters unrelated to licensing.  The 2013 Act 

makes amendments to the Mobile Homes Act 1983 in relation to site rules.  

Regulations made under the 2013 Act require existing site rules to be 

replaced with new site rules which must be deposited with the Local Authority 

within a specified timescale. 

4.2 A Local Authority would need to satisfy itself that replacement or new site 

rules deposited with them have been made in accordance with the procedures 

prescribed by statute.  SHDC will be required to establish, keep up-to-date 

and publish a register of site rules or the variation or deletion of site rules. 

4.3 Any site rules deposited with SHDC for the first time or applications to vary or 

delete existing site rules must be accompanied by the appropriate fee.  The 

fee is the same for either first deposit or for a subsequent variation or deletion.  

This is because the process is very similar for all three types of deposits. 

5.0 Fit and Proper Person fee policy 

5.1 A relevant protected site is a site which requires a licence which is not solely 

for holiday purposes or is otherwise not capable of being used all year round.  

A relevant protected site cannot operate unless the Local Authority is satisfied 

that the manager qualifies as a Fit and Proper Person, Sections 12A -12E of 

the Caravan Sites and Control of Development Act 1960, as implemented by 

Section 8 Mobile Homes Act 2013 (subject to paragraph 10 below).  

5.2 A site owner under the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be 

Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 (SI 2020/1034) (“the 

Page 77



8 
 

Regulations”) must apply to their Local Authority for the relevant person 

(themselves or their appointed manager and anyone involved in the day-to-

day management of the site) to be added to the register of Fit and Proper 

Persons managing sites in their area (“the register”). 

5.3 The site owner may only apply to be added to the register if they hold, or have 

applied for, a site licence for the site. This provision also applies where the 

site owner or site manager is a registered company. 

5.4 A person’s inclusion on the register will be for such period as the Local 

Authority may decide, but that period must not exceed 5 years. 

5.5 In the event of the Local Authority being provided with the site owner’s 

consent to appoint an individual (“Local Authority appointee”) to manage a 

site, the costs associated with this should be reasonable and are recoverable 

from the site owner. These fall outside the application process. Costs that can 

be recovered will depend on the agreement made between SHDC and the site 

owner. Before entering into any discussions or agreements relating to the 

appointment of the manager, advice will be sought from the Local Authority 

legal team. 

5.6 The Regulations permit the Local Authority to determine the fee for an 

application or registration for someone to be added to the register.  Site 

owners will be required to submit a completed application from 1 July until 30 

September 2021 (3 months) and pay the fee, outlined below, to South Holland 

District Council.  It is imperative that the fee is included with the application 

and failing to include this may mean that the site owner is in breach of the 

requirements of the Regulations.  SHDC is not required to consider an 

application for entry on the register unless that application is accompanied by 

the correct fee. If the correct fee is not paid, the application will not be valid 

and the site owner could be in breach of the Regulations.  

5.7 The person on whom the Local Authority serves a final decision notice may 

appeal to the First Tier Tribunal against any decision to: 

• Include the relevant person on the register for an effective period of 

less than 5 years 

• Include the relevant person on the register subject to conditions 

• Reject the application 

 If the site owner decides to appeal the decision, they must make an 

 application to the First Tier Tribunal in line with timeframes set by the tribunal 

 at the time.  If SHDC decides to reject the application the applicant is not 

 entitled to a refund of the fee paid.   

5.8 SHDC may alter the conditions attached to an entry on a register (by adding 

 new conditions or changing or deleting existing ones), following a review. 

Officers must notify the site owner of its interim decision (except in the case 

where it is deleting a condition) and consider any representations made by the 

site owner, before reaching a final decision. If the site owner is unhappy with 

Page 78



9 
 

the decision to alter, or not alter, the conditions, they will have a right of 

appeal to the First Tier Tribunal.  There are no requirements for a site owner 

to make an application for a condition to be altered. Any costs involved with 

amending existing conditions, or adding new conditions to an entry, are 

factored into the application cost.  

5.9 SHDC will be required to conduct relevant background checks regarding the 

applicant’s background in management and their financial standing. The 

results of these checks will allow the Local Authority to decide whether to 

accept the application. The time taken for these checks has been accounted 

for in the fee, irrespective of whether the entry on the register is granted. 

5.10 Where an applicant contacts the Local Authority, prior to application, to 

ascertain the likelihood of the success of that application, the Local Authority 

is expected to provide informal advice.  Examples of advice could be the 

conditions surrounding an application, the information required to be 

submitted and general guidance on making the application. Any preliminary 

advice the Local Authority provides is accounted for in the fee and will not be 

charged separately. 

6.0 Fees for Fit and Proper Person register applications 

6.1 South Holland District Council has provided a breakdown of tasks associated 

with the Fit and Proper Person assessment and/or checks to be included on 

the Fit and Proper Person register in Table 6 on page 14.  

6.2 The fees are set as per Table 6 at £249.99 for the Fit and Proper Person 

application process. 

6.3 The Local Authority has taken into account the following matters on which 

costs are incurred, or likely to be incurred, when determining its fee policy for 

consideration of applications for entry on a Fit and Proper Person register: 

• Initial enquiries  

• Communications required to make appointments and request any 

documents or other information from the site owner or from any third party 

in connection with the Fit and Proper Person process  

• Sending out forms/processing online application forms  

• Updating files, computer systems and the website  

• Processing the application fee  

• Land Registry searches  

• Time for reviewing necessary documents and certificates  

• Preparing preliminary and final decision notices  

• Review by manager or lawyers, review any representations made by 

applicants or responses from third parties  

• Updating the public register  

• Carrying out any risk assessment process considered necessary  

• Reviews of decisions or in defending appeals 

Page 79



10 
 

6.4 The charges are limited to recovering the costs of exercising the Fit and Proper 

 Person test function only and do not include other costs that have already been 

 charged for by other service areas. 

6.5 Please see Table 6 below (page 14) which outlines the above and provides 

 transparent justification for the fee to be imposed upon receipt of the initial 

 application. The purpose of this table is to demonstrate that the fees imposed are 

 fair and transparent providing justification as to why a site is required to pay the 

 fee. Due to the small number of sites that this applies to, no annual fee will be 

 charged in addition to the application fee for ongoing enforcement. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



11 
 

7.0 Appendix 1: Calculation of fees 

Table 1: Application for a new site licence 

Detail Officer Time 
(minutes) 

Initial enquiry and entered on database AO 10 

Obtain planning documents and liaise with planning AO 30 

Send out site application with covering letter AO 10 

Liaise with applicant and arrange site visit AO 10 

Travel time AO 30 

Initial site visit AO 60 

Check application is valid and carry out Land Registry 
search 

AO 40 

Check validity of supporting documentation (eg EICR) AO 20 

Process licence fee AO 15 

Prepare site licence conditions AO 90 

Discuss proposed site licence conditions with applicant AO 45 

Site licence checked by Team Leader and signed by Head 
of Service 

Manager 30 

Scan documents and update public register AO 20 

Carry out full site inspection AO 60 

Travel time AO 30 

Record final details on database AO 20 

Total fixed time (mins) AO 490 

 Manager 30 

Additional inspection time for all pitches over and above 
the first (time per pitch) 

AO 10 

Variable time (mins)  10 

 

Authorised Officer (AO): 490 minutes @ £33.81 / hour = £276.11 

Manager: 30 minutes @ £43.56 / hour = £21.78 

Land Registry search fee: £3.00 

Total fee = £300.89 plus £6.62 per additional pitch 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 81



12 
 

Table 2: Annual inspection fees 

 
Detail 

 
Officer 

 
Time 

(minutes) 

Enter on database, letter to site owner AO 10 

Liaise with applicant and arrange site visit AO 10 

Review site file and check records on database AO 30 

Travel time AO 30 

Inspection of common parts plus one unit AO 45 

Record details of inspection AO 20 

Follow up letter AO 45 

Annual fee processing AO 15 

Total fixed time (mins) AO 205 

Additional inspection time for all pitches over and above 
first 

AO 10 

Variable time (mins)  10 

 

Authorised Officer (AO): 205 minutes @ £33.81 / hour = £115.51 

Total fee = £115.51 plus £6.62 per additional pitch 

 

Table 3: Application to amend a licence 

 
Detail 

 
Officer 

 
Time 

(minutes) 

Enquiry received and entered onto database AO 10 

Send out application form and covering letter AO 10 

On receipt of application, liaise with applicant and arrange 
site visit 

AO 10 

Process licence fee AO 15 

Travel time AO 30 

Site inspection AO 45 

Check amendments are acceptable and all necessary 
documents provided (eg site plan, planning permission) 

AO 20 

Amend site licence AO 60 

Site licence checked and signed by Manager Manager 30 

Documents scanned and public register amended AO 15 

Total fixed time (mins) AO 215 

 Manager 30 

Authorised Officer (AO): 215 minutes @ £33.81 / hour = £121.15 

Manager: 30 minutes @ £43.56 = £21.78 

Total fee = £142.93 

  

Page 82



13 
 

Table 4: Application to transfer a licence 

 
Detail 

 
Officer 

 
Time 

(minutes) 

Enquiry received and entered onto database AO 10 

Send out application form and covering letter AO 10 

Check application is valid (ie mandatory questions, correct 
fee & site plan included) and carry out Land Registry 
Search 

AO 10 

Process licence fee AO 15 

Amend site licence AO 45 

Site licence checked and signed by Manager Manager 30 

Documents scanned and public register amended AO 15 

Total fixed time (mins) AO 105 

 Manager 30 

 

Authorised Officer (AO): 105 minutes @ £33.81 / hour = £59.16 

Manager: 30 minutes @ £43.56 = £21.78 

Land Registry search: £3.00 

Total fee = £83.94 

 

Table 5: Deposit of site rules 

 
Detail 

 
Officer 

 
Time 

(minutes) 

Site rules received and entered onto database AO 10 

Check: 

• Application is valid 

• Site rules have been made in accordance with 
statute 

• Consultation carried out 

• No ‘banned’ site rules 

• No appeals outstanding 

 
 
 

AO 

120 

Documents scanned and public register amended AO 15 

Total fixed time (mins) AO 145 

Authorised Officer (AO): 145 minutes @ £33.81 / hour = £81.70 

Total fee = £81.70 

 

 

Page 83



14 
 

Table 6: Application for Fit and Proper Person register 

Detail Officer Time 
(minutes) 

Pre application advice AO 45 

Receipt of application and recorded on database. 
Acknowledgement email sent 

AO 15 

Check application is full and proper, complete, signed 
and fee paid. Enter all details on system 

AO 30 

Review application and make enquiries re FPP 
documents and declarations (including management 
and finances). Check documents and certificates 

AO 120 

Update database AO 30 

Time for reviewing any representations from applicant 
or third parties, including reviews carried out by 
manager or legal. 

AO 30 

Application of any conditions AO 30 

Grant of application (Final Notice) or serve Preliminary 
Notice (approved by Manager) 

AO 30 

As above for Manager Manager 30 

Add relevant person’s details onto public register. AO 15 

Review Appeal paperwork (assume 1 every 10 
applications) 
Produce appeal response and relevant Notice, issue 
final decision 

AO 15 

Oversight of appeal AO 15 

Enforcement- removal from register or in relation to 
conditions (assume 1 every 10 applications) 

AO 30 

Total fixed time (mins) AO 405 

 Manager 30 

 
Authorised Officer (AO): 405 minutes @ £33.81 / hour = £228.21 
 
Manager: 30 minutes @ £43.56 = £21.78 
 
Total fee = £249.99 
 

 

 

Page 84



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Assistant Director - Governance (Monitoring Officer) 

  

To: Policy Development Panel – 21 September 2021 

 

(Author: Christine Morgan - Democratic Services Team Leader) 

 

Subject Policy Development Panel Work Programme 

 

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel  

 

 
Recommendation:  
 
That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  Background 
 
1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 

inclusion on its Work Programme. 
 
1.2  Issues 
 
1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 

consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified. 

 
1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 

shows: 
 

• The name of the task group 

• What it wants to achieve 

• Key dates 

• Membership of the task group 

• When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel 
 
1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 

standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme. 

 
2.0  OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 
 
2.2 To do nothing. 

 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 13.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the  
 Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors  
 with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
 proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 

 Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 

 Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 

 Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 

 one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

5.1 Corporate Priorities 

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 

 suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 

 strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 

 indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 

 topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 

Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  None. 

Background papers:- None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Team Leader 

Telephone Number 01775 764454 

Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar 2021/22 

Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2021/22 

Page 86



 
APPENDIX A 

 
Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items 

 

Date of 
Meeting 

Agenda items 

21 Sep 2021 • Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

• Street Numbering Policy 

• HRA Development Framework 

• SHDC Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Licensing and Fee Policy 

• Market Consultation Outcome 

16 Nov 2021 • Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

5 Jan 2022 
Joint 
PMP/PDP 

• Budget Scrutiny 

18 Jan 2022 • Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

• Planning Design Task Group Final Report – updated following 
further work by the Task Group, as agreed at 23/6/20. 

• Planning Reform (if any information to report, update to be provided 
by the Planning and Building Control Manager) 

23 Mar 2022 • Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

 
 

 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2021/2022 
 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

Planning Design  To consider the draft Supplementary 
Planning Design document and how 
design issues raised (including those 
arising from the Performance Monitoring 
Panel’s Review of Implemented Planning 
Decisions tour) could be addressed within 
the document; and 
That the Task Group’s recommendations 
be incorporated into the draft 
Supplementary Planning Document, to be 
considered by the Policy Development 
Panel, with final agreement by the South 
East Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee 
Scope agreed at first Task Group 
meeting 28 January 2020 
 

25 June 2019 28 January 
2020 
 

J Astill (Chair) 
J L King 
P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds  
S C Walsh 

Final Report to PDP 23 
June 2020. 
Further work to be 
undertaken, with 
updated final report to a 
future meeting, early 
2021, once direction has 
been clarified with 
regard to the 
Government White 
Paper on Planning 
Reform 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Task Group 

Scope to be agreed at first meeting of the 
Task Group.   
Task Group to consider the facts on the 
CIL, and findings to be fed into 
Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) 
 
 
 
 

24 
September 
2019 
Reconsidered 
21/1/20 

To run at same 
time as Planning 
Design Task 
Group-findings 
to be fed into 
SPD. 
Update 
(15/9/20)-work 
to commence 
early 2021, once 
direction has 

Avery 
Drury 
McLean  
Woolf 

 

P
age 89



been clarified 
with regard to  
Government 
White Paper on 
Planning 
Reform 

 
PENDING TASK GROUPS 

 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added 
to Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

Devolution Task Group Executive Manager Governance to set 
Terms of Reference once White Paper 
published 

23 June 2020 TBC TBC  

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group 

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows: 

• To develop the new policy in light of 
issues raised in the gap analysis and 
legislative changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope would be 
circulated prior to the first Task Group 
meeting. 

 

3 October 
2017 

11 December 
2017 

H Drury 
M D McLean 
A R Woolf 
(Chairman) 
A Harrison  

To PDP 1 May 2018  
To Cabinet 29 May 2018 

 

P
age 90


	Agenda
	2.a) Policy Development Panel
	2.b) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	2.c) Joint Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register
	9. Street Naming and Numbering Policy
	Appendix 1 for Street Naming and Numbering Policy

	10. HRA Housing Delivery Framework
	11. SHDC Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Licensing and Fee Policy
	Appendix 1 for SHDC Mobile Homes and Caravan Site Licensing and Fee Policy

	13. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


